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| am pleased to present the annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

During the financial year (“FY”) of 2024, the Group faced
strong challenges of continuous geopolitical tensions and
rising interest rates that resulted in inflationary pressures
and lower sales demand worldwide. To alleviate the impact
of these uncertainties, the Group opted to exercise financial
prudence to lower safety stock to an optimal level, and to
optimize fixed costs usage by investing in new machineries
prudently for confirmed new business, and adopting efficient
cost cutting measures to cope with significant sudden drop
in sales demand worldwide in the home environmental
product category as consumers in China, Japan and Korea,
facing higher unemployment rate and weakened domestic
currencies during 2024, spent less money on health related
consumer products. Nevertheless, the Group managed to
tackle each challenge and launched more new innovative
products during 2024 in the grooming product categories
that helped consumers to look smart when they went out to
work and socialize.

Despite launching new grooming products in niche
markets, for FY2024, the Group’s consolidated turnover
decreased to HK$1,075,732,000, representing a decrease
of approximately 21.06% as compared with the same
period in the previous year. Net profit of the Group was
HK$45,219,000, representing a decrease of approximately
33.38%, as compared with the net profit of HK$67,871,000
for the same period in FY2023; and representing basic
earnings per share of 9.02 Hong Kong cents (net profit in
FY2023 was HK$67,871,000, with basic earnings per share
of 13.54 Hong Kong cents). The decrease in net profit was
attributable to the fact that despite the Group’s business had
better gross margins for new products and better control of
expenses, significant decrease in sales revenue in FY2024
inevitably increased per unit fixed costs that caused net
profit to go down.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHRE

Cash generated from operations was HK$77,239,000
in FY2024. Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of
FY2024 was HK$349,130,000 (of which HK$70,158,000
was dividend paid out during FY2024) as compared with
HK$367,415,000 at the beginning of FY2024. The positive
operating cash flow and substantial cash balances enable
the Group to continue paying dividends to the shareholders.
At the same time, the Group continues to invest excess cash
in research and development (‘R&D”), new technology and
automation equipment. Consequently, the Group continues
to qualify as a High and New Technology Enterprise (‘HNTE”)
in The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

In FY2024, the Group invested HK$37,931,000 (compared
with HK$40,505,000 in FY2023) to purchase new injection
moulding machines, procure more high precision laboratory
testing equipment to upgrade our R&D and operational
capabilities, build new toolings for new products, hire
consultants to work on finance digital transformation to
enhance faster data processing and analysis, and to realize
a paperless finance operation. Part of the above-mentioned
capital expenditure was related to new R&D projects to fulffill
the HNTE minimum annual investment requirement; and we
expect the investment in these R&D projects will improve our
operational efficiency, enabling the Group’s management
to make better predictions and business decisions, and
hopefully can generate more sales revenue in the near future
from launch of new products. Qualifying for the HNTE status
would enable the Group to continue to enjoy lower profit tax
rate and to receive tax incentives from the PRC Government;
and increase our competitiveness among our peers.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2024

R2024 R F[E » K2 EE 2R BB 77,239,000
TLo R2024 M FER R KRR GEEHBE FHEAD
#5349,130,000 L ( R2024 T K F E B R IR B & B
70,158,0007T) * 2024 B F R W3R & KRS FEIEE
SFEB A 367,415,000 - FREBERERELRTENES
EREAEBE A NEERREIRERE - R - NEEE
BRBEFR AR (THE]D  FTRITEAEEEE -
At "EBEETFREZREESTENCE((BHE
T3 ) MER -

R2024 B FEE - AEEIRE T A% 37,931,000 7T (2023
P HFE BB 40,505,000 7T ) B8 B #THY )T 28 iR M TN X
BEEESMNERSAEZE  UWRARMOFEREE
B AVESRBEETIER  EEEMAENIGETEIR
{EEERY > AR EIE BRI R DM R B IR AR B S8 (E -
NEBAEASTHEFNAEBEEER  ERE T RESH
Rt REFEREE R - AEERBZEHEEEN
REBRSRMOEERE  FAEBEETEERERET
RTERIMERAR WHERBETABRBERLTERT
RELZHERA - FERTENCENERBERAEEZ
EREMFIEHE - WESHEBNNBEKES - LURA
BPEITENBRF ) ©



To achieve AloT (Artificial Intelligence and Internet of
Things) compatibility, the Group continued to invest in the
information systems and automated production processes
to convert the operations to a MES system that analyze
manufacturing data real time and management can observe
the important information such as manufacturing process
bottleneck and equipment failure to take immediate action
to remedy the situation. Our MES system can also utilize
big data and mobile surveillance data to improve quality
systems. With more digital transformation tools available,
the Group’s management can update strategies and react
to changes quickly in this highly competitive global markets.
The Group successfully obtained 1ISO27001 certification
last year, certifying that the Group’s information technology
(“IT”) system has adopted satisfactory cybersecurity
measures to protect data privacy and the Group has
passed the ISO 27001 audit again in FY2024. Furthermore,
the Group’s enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) and IT
system can achieve safe and secure data management, and
safeguard important digital and intangible assets to give our
stakeholders confidence in our ability to protect our data
integrity.

The Group experienced serious flooding inside our Nansha
factory in 2023 as a result of severe weather of “Black
Rain” due to extreme climate change that led to damages
and financial losses. Since then the Group adopted crisis
risk management protocols and improved our climate-
related crisis measures, and we did not incur damages and
losses in 2024. The Group will continue to review our risk
management protocols under severe climate change and
further optimize our crisis management procedures to better
manage similar situation in the future.

In April 2024, the Group successfully shipped the first
container of “Made in Indonesia” products for one of our
major customers from the Batam, Indonesia factory of our
manufacturing partner. To alleviate potential geopolitical risk,
and to mitigate the uncertainty surrounding the trade war, it
is important that the Group has an overseas manufacturing
facility where we can produce key products outside China
for our customers in case Sino-US relationship deteriorates.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHRE

In April 2024, the Group also rented out 38% of the office/
warehouse (“investment property”) at the Hong Kong
headquarters to generate rental income. The investment
property has been revalued and booked as gain in the other
comprehensive income.

In June 2024, the Group was nominated as one of the 3
finalists, among approximately 500 suppliers, as one of
our most important customers’ procurement partnership
award. This kind of recognition would drive our management
to strive for improvement and excellence in our future
cooperation with strategic partners, both customers and key
suppliers.

In November 2024, in celebration of the Group’s 60th
anniversary, the Group adopted a share option scheme to
provide incentive and rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group.

2024 marks the year that the Group celebrates her 60th
anniversary. Over the past few years, the Group had made
investment to renovate and upgrade the manufacturing
facilities with digitally transformed data processing systems
and Al enabled manufacturing processes and equipment.
With the state-of-the art rejuvenated factory, enthusiastic
management and workers, the Group’s management strives
to achieve greater results and to attain excellence in both
operational and financial performance in the coming years.

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | would
like to extend the Board’s appreciation to all our staff for their

hard work and dedication throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

WONG, Man Hin Raymond
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL POSITION

The liquidity position of the Group was satisfactory. The
current ratio of the Group was 3.49 as of 31 December
2024, compared with 3.51 as of 31 December 2023. The
quick ratio of the Group was 2.83 as of 31 December 2024
(81 December 2023: 2.84). The gearing ratio of the Group
was 0.30 as of 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
0.32), which was computed by the trade and other payables
over total equity.

During FY2024, the Group’s trade receivables turnover
stood at 69 days, compared with 60 days in FY2023. The
inventory turnover in FY2024 was 53 days, compared with
45 days in FY2023.

Bank balances and cash were HK$349,130,000 as of 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$367,415,000), representing a
decrease of HK$18,285,000 as compared to the figures in
the same period in FY2023 which was mainly due to more
dividends were paid out in FY2024.

There were no bank borrowings as of 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

The Group had no contingent liabilities as of 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, the capital structure of the Company has
not been changed with details shown in note 24(a) to the
financial statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND SPECIAL DIVIDEND

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has
proposed a final dividend of 2 Hong Kong cents per ordinary
share (the “Final Dividend”) (2023: 4 Hong Kong cents
per ordinary share) and a special dividend of 6 Hong Kong
cents per ordinary share (the “Special Dividend”) (2023:
6 Hong Kong cents per ordinary share) for the year ended
31 December 2024. The Final Dividend and the Special
Dividend, if approved by the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, will be paid on Monday, 9 June
2025 to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 28
May 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed for
the following periods:

(1) For the purpose of determining shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on Tuesday, 20 May
2025 (the “2025 AGM”), the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Thursday, 15 May
2025 to Tuesday, 20 May 2025, both days inclusive.
In order to be qualified for attending and voting at the
2025 AGM, all transfer documents, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates, should be lodged
for registration with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 14 May 2025.

(2)  For the purpose of determining shareholders who are
entitled to the Final Dividend and the Special Dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 26 May 2025 to Wednesday, 28 May
2025, both days inclusive. In order to be qualified for
the Final Dividend and the Special Dividend, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, should be lodged for registration with the
Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 May 2025.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

The Group had no charges on assets as of 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the Group’s transactions were conducted in the
United States dollars, British Pound, Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi. The Group does not foresee any substantial
exposure to foreign currency fluctuations and thus use of
financial instruments for exchange rate hedging purpose is
not considered.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not
have any significant investments, material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not
have other plans for material investments or capital assets
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group’s management faced strong challenges during
the second half of 2024 due to continuous geopolitical
tensions and economic uncertainties. The Group’s
management expects in 2025 the toxic culture of “involution”
in China will continue to increase domestic factories cost
cutting competition resulting in diminishing returns if we do
not innovate and carve out a niche market to develop new
differentiated novel products. Furthermore, the Group’s
management needs to react quickly to formulate a new and
effective strategy to counter the disruptive market forces
emerging from the business ecosystem in which the Group
operates. The Group’s investment in R&D enables us to
maintain the HNTE status for the eighth consecutive year,
and allows the Group to use new knowledge, patents and
innovations to grow our business despite a punctuated
equilibrium in the business ecosystem. The Group’s
management will remain resilient to tackle any immediate
market downturns and form stronger partnership with
our strategic customers to adapt to the new business
ecosystem.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFWE DM

In the year 2025, the Group will continue to invest and
promote computerization of manufacturing. The Group
has integrated our ERP system with new financial analytic
software such as Microsoft Power Bl to enable detailed
financial analytics to help the Group’s management team
make wise decisions on important strategic tasks quickly
and to unlock the Group’s full operational potential. By
analyzing the profit margins of different product lines,
the cash and inventory real time positions, and the latest
accounts receivables and payables status, the Group’s
management can address the entire value chain to open
up new business opportunities, make more efficient use of
working capital and better manage discretionary spending.

As more and more European countries propose “Carbon
Border Adjustment Mechanism (“CBAM”)”, to comply
with carbon emission and other environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) targets, the Group’s management is
vigilant about this potential new requirement and gets ready
to obtain the CBAM certificates based on Greenhouse
Gases (“GHG”) emissions embedded in the products to
be imported in the European Union. The need for supply
chain decarbonization will inevitably increase total product
costs and our R&D team will take this new requirement
into consideration when we develop new innovative
products. Furthermore, the new measures proposed by the
International Sustainability Standards Board will also enforce
more climate change risk management and new ESG
requirements. The Board and the Group’s management will
keep up-to-date on all the new ESG and decarbonization
requirements so that we can be the market forerunner to
introduce environmentally friendly new innovative products
that suit this new globally sustainability trend.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

STAFF

The Group currently employs approximately 19 Hong Kong
staff members and provides them with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme. Our factory in the PRC employs
approximately 531 to 569 staff members, and workers
employed directly or indirectly approximately ranged
from 1,596 to 2,058 during the year ended 31 December
2024. Remuneration is determined by reference to their
quallifications, experiences and performances.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend the Board’s
appreciation to all our staff for their hard work and dedication
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

AEEEREREBEEB/N

Dr. Wong, Man Hin Raymond (“Dr. Raymond Wong”),
aged 58, son of Dr. Wong, Kin Lae Wilson, was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 18 July 2001, re-designated
as an executive Director on 19 April 2002. Dr. Raymond
Wong became a deputy executive Chairman since 19 April
2007. On 10 December 2021, he was re-designated as
the Chairman. He is also a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Dr. Raymond Wong is also a
director of Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical Manufacture
Appliances Development Company Limited which is a
subsidiary of the Company and a director of Raymond
Electric (China) Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, until 2
April 2025.

Dr. Raymond Wong holds a bachelor’s degree in chemical
engineering, a master degree in economics and a doctorate
degree in business administration. He is a member of
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (CPA),
a Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA),
a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) and holds
a certificate in financial management (CFM). He is an
independent non-executive director of Modern Healthcare
Technology Holdings Limited (formerly Modern Beauty Salon
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 0919), Nan Nan Resources
Enterprise Limited (stock code: 1229), Tak Lee Machinery
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2102) and Guanze Medical
Information Industry (Holding) Co., Ltd (stock code: 2427),
companies whose shares are listed on The Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). He was an independent non-executive Director
of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited (stock
code: 8366), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, until 9 March 2021.
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Mr. Wong, Ying Man John (“Mr. John Wong”), aged 59,
was appointed as an executive Director on 15 September
1997. He has been appointed as the Vice-Chairman on
10 December 2021. He graduated from the University of
Manchester Institute of Science & Technology in 1987 and
joined the Company in the same year. He worked as an
engineer, project coordinator, engineering manager and
then general manager for operations. He is the General
Manager and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. John Wong is also a director of Mass
Top Corporation, Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical
Manufacture Appliances Development Company Limited
which are subsidiaries of the Company and a director
of Raymond Electric (China) Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company, until 2 April 2025.

Mr. Mok, Kin Hing, aged 61, was alternate Director to Dr.
Wong, Kin Lae Wilson, ex-Chairman and executive Director
of the Company until 1 July 2008 when he was appointed as
an executive Director with effect from 1 July 2008. Mr. Mok
joined the Company as a production planning coordinator in
1990. He was appointed as a production manager in 1993
and general manager of Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical
Appliances Development Co. Ltd. in 1996. Mr. Mok is also a
director of Raymond Electric (China) Limited, a subsidiary of
the Company, until 2 April 2025.

Dr. Wong, Kin Lae Wilson (“Dr. Wilson Wong”),
aged 89, was an executive Director and the Chairman
from 8 November 1984 to 10 December 2021. He was
re-designated as a non-executive Director and ceased
to be the Chairman with effect from 10 December 2021.
He obtained a Bachelor of Engineering Degree (Chemical
Engineering) in 1959 from McGill University in Canada.
He was a lecturer at the Hong Kong Technical College. In
1964, Dr. Wilson Wong founded the Company. In 1998, he
was awarded an honorary Doctor of Science from McGill
University in Canada. Dr. Wilson Wong is also a director
of Mass Top Corporation and Raymond (Panyu Nansha)
Electrical Manufacture Appliances Development Company
Limited, both of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company.
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Mr. Wong, Ying Kit David (“Mr. David Wong”), aged 61,
was appointed a non-executive Director on 26 May 2014.
Prior to his appointment as non-executive Director, he was
an alternate Director of the late Dr. Wong, Kin Hang Philip
(who was a non-executive Director) from 4 July 2008 to 26
May 2014. Mr. David Wong is a Registered Architect and
Authorized Person in Hong Kong. He is also a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Architects. Mr. David Wong is the
founder and executive director of Hong Kong Wine Vault.

Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson (“Mr. Lo”), age 51, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1
January 2013. He is also the Chairman of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company, and
a member of the audit committee of the Company. He has
more than 20 years of working experience in investment
banking and advising on corporate finance. He is currently
a managing director of Caitong International Capital
Co., Limited. Mr. Lo was an independent non-executive
director of Kingdom Holdings Limited (stock code: 0528), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from 17 May 2010 to 13 December 2024. He also has many
years of experience in the field of auditing and accounting.
He is a member of the American Institute of CPA, a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant and
a member of CFA Institute. Mr. Lo obtained his bachelor
of commerce degree from University of British Columbia in
1995.
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Ms. Ling, Kit Sum Imma (“Ms. Ling”), aged 70, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1
June 2020. She is also the Chairlady of the audit committee
of the Company, and a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Ms. Ling is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and a
retired assurance partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers. She
is also an independent non-executive director of Melbourne
Enterprises Limited (stock code: 0158), ENM Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0128), EVA Precision Industrial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0838), Arta TechFin Corporation
Limited (stock code: 0279) and Chinney Kin Wing Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1556) and was an independent non-
executive director of Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited
(stock code: 2022) from November 2017 to June 2021 and
Wise Ally International Holdings Limited (stock code: 9918)
from December 2019 to June 2023, all of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Ling is a council
member and the treasurer of The Education University of
Hong Kong. She is a member of the Advisory Board of
Hong Kong Institute of Information Technology of Vocational
Training Council. Ms. Ling was appointed as a member of
the Panel of Review Boards on School Complaints of the
Education Bureau of Hong Kong in January 2025 for a
term of two years. She is also the honorary secretary and
a council member of The Hong Kong Federation of Youth
Groups and an executive committee member of the Hong
Kong Youth Hostels Association. Ms. Ling is an independent
manager of the incorporated management committee of Ng
Yuk Secondary School, an aided school.

She previously served as a member of the Appeal Board
Panel (Town Planning) (2016-2022), the Hospital Governing
Committee of the Hospital Authority (2015-2022), a board
member of the Estate Agents Authority (2015-2021) and
the Employees Compensation Assistance Fund Board
(2006-2012). Ms. Ling is a member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, Chartered Professional Accountants
of Ontario, Canada, and Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. She is an accredited general mediator.
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Dr. Ko, Siu Fung Stephen (“Dr. Ko”), aged 62, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1
October 2021. He is also a member of the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Dr. Ko is a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and The Hong Kong Independent
Non-Executive Director Association. He advises international
technological companies’ executives and boards on scaling
up organisations to the next levels of business performance,
connectivity, innovation, and thus sustainability. His executive
career has spanned several decades and continents at
BASF and Linde Groups in materials, Stryker Corporation in
medical technologies and Aspen Technology Incorporated in
software. Dr. Ko holds a master’s degree in computer-aided
chemical engineering from University of Waterloo in Canada,
a master degree of business administration from Institut
Européen d’Administration des Affaires in France and a
doctorate degree in business administration from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.
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The Board has the pleasure to submit the annual report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong
and has its registered office and principal place of business
at Rooms 1806-1813, 18th Floor, Grandtech Centre, 8 On
Ping Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES & BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is sale of electrical
home appliances. The principal activities and other
particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, can be found
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 3 to 11 of this annual report.
This discussion forms part of the directors’ report.

Review on the Group’s business
performance
— Analysis using financial key
performance indicators

Pages 3 to 11
Page 7
Principal risks and uncertainties

facing the Group
Future prospects of the Group

Pages 9to 10

Pages 9to 10

The Company will publish its standalone Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended
31 December 2024 on the websites of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(http://www.raymondfinance.com) in due course. Further
discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and key relationships with employees,
customers, suppliers and others are also set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the state of affairs of the Group as at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 63 to 147.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 148
of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company maintains good relationships with its
employees by taking all practicable measures, including
but not limited to improving, reviewing and updating its
polices on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational
health and safety, to ensure that all the staff are reasonably
remunerated.

The Company is in good relationship with its customers
and is always improving its communication mechanism with
customers to ensure all the complaints or feedback from its
customers can be informed by the Company in time and the
customers receive service of high quality.

The Company maintains long-period good cooperation with
its domestic and overseas suppliers, which are of good
reputation in the industry.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenues from sales of goods and
purchases attributable to the Group’s major customers and
suppliers during the financial year are as follows:

SEMBBEE

AEBEBREASEVRFE 2 #ENEEABRESRNAFR
$£148H -

BHES FFRHEB2EERE

ARPBEFRM—YIATIERER BB RA RIFAE - %
FHEEE/EETRRENT  BEEALEHMEHMW - 25 - 5
gl BERENLZEEEER  UBRAEEIEGSER
B -

ARRRFEEFPHRFAR  A—ERIREAEEP
RUBBES) - ALRERA QB R MEREPOMBERF
HRfE - YARFPEESSMENR -

ARRETERAZTERFBENERIMIERRSRYR
WA 1ERA -

TREFRMER

AEEZTRZHEBNMELHASBRFE ZRBRELE
EEMWRAZBDLIT -

Percentage of
the Group’s total
AEBEZEHEDE

Revenue from

sales of goods Purchases
HEERBKA g%
The largest customer BRAEP 28.90% N/ATiE A
Five largest customers in aggregate A AR AR 85.29% N/ATE A
The largest supplier BAMER N/A 7N B 6.97%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEREE N/ATNiE 24.69%

None of directors, their associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any
interest in these major customers and suppliers during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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RECOMMENDED DIVIDEND

An interim dividend of 4 HK cents per share was paid for the
year ended 30 June 2024 (2023: 3 HK cents). The Board
proposed a final dividend of 2 Hong Kong cents per ordinary
share and a special dividend of 6 Hong Kong cents per
ordinary share (2023: a final dividend of 4 Hong Kong cents
per ordinary share and a special dividend of 6 Hong Kong
cents per ordinary share) for the year ended 31 December
2024.

ISSUED SHARES

Details of the movements in the issued shares of the
Company during the year are set out in note 24(a) to the
financial statements.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in note 24(c) to the financial statements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond (Chairman)

Mr. WONG, Ying Man John (Vice Chairman)

Mr. MOK, Kin Hing

Dr. WONG, Yin Wai (appointed on 1 January 2025)

Non-Executive Directors:
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson

Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma

Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen
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During the year and up to the date of this report, Dr. WONG,
Man Hin Raymond, Mr. WONG, Ying Man John, Mr. MOK,
Kin Hing and Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson, are also directors
in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association,
at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors
for the time being or if their number is not three or a multiple
of three then the number nearest one-third shall retire from
office. Mr. MOK, Kin Hing, Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson
and Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen will retire from the Board by
rotation at the forthcoming 2025 AGM.

Mr. MOK, Kin Hing, Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson and Dr. KO,
Siu Fung Stephen shall be eligible and will offer themselves
for re-election at the 2025 AGM.

Pursuant to article 95 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Dr. WONG,
Yin Wai, being an executive Director (appointed on 1 January
2025) will retire at the forthcoming AGM and shall be eligible
and will offer himself for re-election at the 2025 AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
2025 AGM has a service contract with the Company or
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

The non-executive Directors do not have specific terms
of appointment but are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 12 to 16 of
this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors
in the shares of the Company, its subsidiaries and other
associated corporations (within the meaning of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were
as follows:

(i)  Interests in issued shares
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MR2024F12A31H  FSEERARAE - BRI REMR
BAB (B&E RFESH RABEERN ([ FH54H6 1)) 2k Hh &8
B - IRIBANA RMKEF DS 352 MR B « Bt At
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Number of shares
Rio#E
% of total
Issued
Personal Family  Corporate Shares
Capacity Interests Interests Interests Total EHE G
L) fEAEE  FEERE  OEEER it RHESE
(Note 1) (Note 7)
(PzE1) (P3E7)
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond Beneficial owner 16,374,008 10,100,000 - 26,474,008 5.28%
BENERL and interest of spouse (Note 2) (Note 3)
BB ARRRBER GE)) (GEX)
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John Beneficial owner 58,845,136 - - 58,845,136 11.74%
it BERBEA
Mr. MOK; Kin Hing Beneficial owner 2,825,000 S - 2,825,000 0.56%
Rp@RLE EREBA
Non-Executive Directors
FHTEE
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson Interest of spouse & interest - 150,000 97,198,981 97,348,981 19.42%
B flEt of a controlled corporation (Note 4) (Note 5)
BLBR R R X AR AR AR GED) GiE)
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David Beneficial owner 3,977,000 - - 3,977,000 0.79%
BARGEE EREAA (Note 6)
(PizE6)
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTEE
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson Beneficial owner 300,000 - - 300,000 0.06%
BERERE ERBEBA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

(i)

Notes:

1)

Interests in issued shares (Continued)

The shares are registered under the names of the Directors
who are the beneficial shareholders.

Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond acquired 10,000,000
shares from Diamond-Harvest Limited on 6 June 2024. He
subsequently sold 53,964 shares on 21 August 2024.

Ms. WONG, Hui Ting Zaneta, spouse of Dr. WONG, Man Hin
Raymond, is the beneficial owner.

Ms. SUN, Kwing Hai Amelia, spouse of Dr. WONG, Kin Lae
Wilson, is the beneficial shareholder.

Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson is the beneficial shareholder of
91.7% of the issued shares of Diamond-Harvest Limited,
which owned 97,198,981 shares in the Company. Diamond-
Harvest Limited transferred 10,000,000 shares to Dr. WONG,
Man Hin Raymond on 6 June 2024.

Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David acquired 650,000 shares
and 606,000 shares on 11 July 2024 and 12 July 2024
respectively.

The percentage was compiled based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 501,324,860 ordinary
shares) as at 31 December 2024.

All the interests disclosed under this section represent long
positions in the shares.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

(i)  Interests in underlying shares

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under
eighteen years of age has interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company, or
any of its holding Company, subsidiaries or other associated
corporations, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were
entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year ended
31 December 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Share options are granted to the Directors, employees
and other eligible participants specified under the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) approved by shareholders
of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting on 7
November 2024. Details of the Scheme are as follows:
Purpose The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are (a) to enable the
Company to grant options to the
eligible participants as incentive
or rewards for their contribution
to the growth and development
of the Group; (b) to attract and
retain personnel to promote the
sustainable development of the
Group; and (c) to align the interest
of the grantees with those of
the shareholders to promote the
long term financial and business
performance of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Participants

The following persons are eligible
to participate in, and be granted
share award under, the Scheme
(each such person being an
“Eligible Participant”):

(@) any director and employee
(whether full time or part
time) of the Company
or the Group (each
such person being an
“Employee Participant”);

(b) any director or employee
of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or
associated companies of
the Company (each such
person being a “Related
Entity Participant”); and

(c) any person (whether a
natural person, a corporate
entity or otherwise) who
provides services to the
Group on a continuing
or recurring basis in its
ordinary and usual course
of business which are in the
interests of the long-term
growth of the Group, and
excludes (for the avoidance
of doubt) (i) placing agents
or financial advisers
providing advisory services
for fund-raising, mergers or
acquisitions, (i) professional
service providers (such as
auditors or valuers) who
provide assurance or are
required to perform their
services with impartiality
and objectivity (each such
person being a “Service
Provider”)

Total number of ordinary 50,132,486 ordinary shares

shares available

for issue and the
percentage of the
issued shares that it
represents as at the
date of the annual
report

24 RAYMOND Industrial Ltd.

representing 10% of the shares
in issue (excluding any treasury
shares)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Maximum entitlement of An individual limit on the total

each participant

Period within which
the option may be
exercised by
the grantee

number of Shares that may be
issued to each Eligible Participant
in any 12-month period, such that
the aggregate number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect
of all options and awards granted
to each Eligible Participant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares
in issue for the time being (the
“Individual Limit”).

Where any grant of options or
awards to an Eligible Participant
would result in the shares issued
and to be issued in respect of all
options and awards granted to
such person (excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme)
under the Scheme in the 12-month
period up to and including the date
of such further grant exceeding
the Individual Limit, such grant
must be separately approved by
shareholders of the Company
in general meeting with such
Eligible Participant and his close
associates (or his associates if the
participant is a connected person
of the Company) abstaining from
voting. The Company will send
a circular to the shareholders of
the Company containing all those
information and terms as required
under Rule 17.03(D)(2) of the
Listing Rules.

a period (which may not be later
than 10 years from the offer date
of that option) to be determined
and notified by the Directors to
the Grantee thereof and, in the
absence of such determination,
from the offer date to the earlier of
(i) the date on which such option
lapses under the provisions of the
Scheme; and (i) 10 years from the
offer date of that option

Report of the Directors

BRESTE (e

Bu2EENZE
FRRRIE LR

PRI AT AT T P P
Z SR

EXERS

EEA12EABEAR mEus
ERS2EFZTHNRELHNE
BIRE - ZERTFTEUAERS
B E SR P A BB i K 2 B ik
B ETRN RBEITHER
THREBERCETRMNONI%
([MEBIPRSI L)

REEERZEER B TR
BHEHTERREZTE— PR
HEBR(BFEZR) AT @A
M BEEEMZATHRESN
Fr s B S K 88 Bh (R B IR IR IR AN
TR E AR D T EI IS RRE &
KR EY (] BR RS 4 N 22 D ) RR B A B
[REE - BIE IR MBEARR A
[RERAEREAE ESTHE - ™
AR AR EBRBE A (&
BABKARNBEEAL Bl A
HBBA) BRERE - KRR
MDA R — DK - &
B EHRBIFE 17.03D)Q) &R E
RIFTE BB M AEK -

EEMETABMNBBEARAN
HE (CMSBRZERENZNE
HIREET104F) o MBS WEIED
EHRET  MARZEHEHBHREMN
TRENRSE () RIEERERT
BIEIE - ZBIE A B E
K BEZERENEHHE BB
104F

MREZEARART —ZT_NFFH

- —ay 7

25

p



i o
Report of the Directors

26

EFEHG

Vesting period

It shall not be shorter than
12 months from the date of
acceptance of the offer.

There could be a shorter vesting
period at the discretion of the
Board or the remuneration
committee of the Board (as the
case may be) under each of
the following circumstances in
relation to grant to the Employee
Participants:

(@) grants of “make-whole”
options to new Employee
Participants to replace the
awards or options they
forfeited when leaving the
previous employers;

(b) grants to an Employee
Participant whose
employment is terminated
due to death or disability or
occurrence of any out-of-
control event;

(c) grants that are made in
batches during a year
for administrative and
compliance reasons which
may include options that
should have been granted
earlier but had to wait for a
subsequent batch, in which
cases the vesting period
may be adjusted to take
account of the time from
which the options would
have been granted if not
for such administrative or
compliance requirements;
and

(d) grants with a mixed
or accelerated vesting
schedule such as where
the options vest evenly over
a period of 12 months.
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Amount payable on
acceptance of the
option

Period within which
payments must be
made

Basis of determining
the exercise price of
options granted

Remaining life of the
Scheme

HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant of offer

No later than 21 days from the
date of the offer

The exercise price in respect of
any option shall, subject to any
adjustments made pursuant to
the terms of the Scheme, be at
the discretion of the Directors,
provided that it shall not be less
than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the
shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the offer date
which must be a business
day; and

(b) the average closing price of
the shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding
the offer date.

The Scheme shall remain in force
until 6 November 2034
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No share option has been granted by the Company under
the Scheme since its adoption on 7 November 2024. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, no option has been
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate of the Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and 31
December 2024 were nil and 50,132,486, respectively.
The number of options available for grant under the service
provider sublimit of the Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and
31 December 2024 were nil and 5,013,268, respectively.

The number of shares available for issue under the Scheme
(including options granted but not yet exercised and options
available for issue) was 50,132,486 shares of the Company,
representing 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at
the date of this report.

As no share options were granted under the Scheme during
the year ended 31 December 2024, the number of Shares
that could be issued in respect of the share options granted
under the Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2024 divided by the weighted average number of Shares in
issue during the Reporting Year is nil.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, according to the register of
members kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO and so far as is known to, or can be ascertained
after reasonable enquiry by the Directors, the following
persons/entities, other than a Director, had an interest in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Report of the Directors
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Number of shares
BROEE
% of total
issued
Registered Corporate Family Total shares
Capacity shareholders interests interest BIEER CHE
ED) BELRR EEER XEfER ROEEHE RAESE
(Note 5)
(FizE5)
Substantial shareholders
FERR
Ms. SUN, Kwing Hai Amelia Beneficial owner & 150,000 97,198,981 - 97,348,981 19.42%
FMELL interest of spouse (Note 1)
EREA AR BNER (FIzE1)
Diamond-Harvest Limited Beneficial owner 97,198,981 - - 97,198,981 19.39%
EREBA (Note 1)
(&)
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John Beneficial owner 58,845,136 - - 58,845,136 11.74%
BREKAE ERBEEA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN FERRRAR T 2R H R EBER M 2 EE

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued) (%&)
Number of shares
ROHE
% of total
issued
Registered Corporate Family Total shares
Capacity shareholders interests interest AEER EHE S
&t BRTRR EEER FEEE ROBEHE RAEAE
(Note 5)
(Ki5E5)
Alpha Luck Industrial Limited Beneficial owner 53,080,800 - - 53,080,800 10.59%
THEZBRLA ERERA (Note 2)
(Fisx2)
China North Industries Corp. Interest of controlled - 53,080,800 - 53,080,800 10.59%
PRI TEBERAA corporations (Note 2)
RE SN B R (Kizt2)
China North Industries Group Interest of controlled - 53,080,800 - 53,080,800 10.59%
Corporation Ltd. corporations (Note 2)
FEEETXSERR AR PRSI B0 (Fizt2)
China South Industries Group Interest of controlled - 53,080,800 - 53,080,800 10.59%
Corporation corporations (Note 2)
REAREEEEERAR PRSI B R (Fizt2)
Mr. David Michael WEBB Beneficial owner 13,137,345 21,477,655 - 34,615,000 6.90%
(“Mr. Webb”) & interest of (Note 3) (Note 3)
([Webb &4 1) controlled corporation (H3E3) (H3E3)
ERBEBEAR
REHIREE R R
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond Beneficial owner 16,374,000 - 10,100,000 26,474,008 5.28%
BEXHEET ERBEBA (Note 4) (Note 4) (Note 4)
(FizE4) (Fizt4) (Kizz4)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

(1) 97,198,981 shares were held through Diamond-Harvest
Limited. Ms. SUN, Kwing Hai Amelia and her spouse,
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson hold 8.3% and 91.7% of the
issued shares of Diamond-Harvest Limited, respectively.
Diamond-Harvest Limited transferred 10,000,000 shares to
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond on 6 June 2024.

2) Alpha Luck Industrial Company Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by China North Industries Corp. China
North Industries Corp. is owned as to 37.54% by China
South Industries Group Corporation and 56.70% owned by
China North Industries Group Corporation Ltd.. The above
companies are wholly owned by Bz HEEEEREE
2. Therefore, China North Industries Group Corporation
Ltd, China South Industries Group Corporation, China
North Industries Corp and RITEIBEEEEIEEZE S are
deemed to be interested in the 53,080,800 shares of the
Company held by Alpha Lunk Industrial Company Limited.

Q) The number of shares disclosed was based on the latest
disclosure of interest form filed on 5 August 2020 (the date
of relevant event be 31 July 2020) received from Mr. Webb.
According to the filed form, Mr. Webb beneficially owned
18,137,345 shares of the Company and 21,477,655 shares
of the Company were held through Preferable Situation
Assets Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Webb.

(4) Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond acquired 10,000,000
shares from Diamond-Harvest Limited on 6 June 2024. He
subsequently sold 53,964 shares on 21 August 2024. Ms.
WONG, Hui Ting Zaneta, spouse of Dr. WONG, Man Hin
Raymond, holds 10,100,000 shares.

5) The percentage was compiled based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 501,324,860 ordinary
shares) as at 31 December 2024.

All the interests disclosed under this section represent long
positions in the shares of the Company.
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Report of the Directors
EZERSE

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of
the directors of the Company is currently in force and was
in force throughout this year. The Company has purchased
suitable insurances for the Directors with respect to their
possible legal proceedings.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions disclosed in note 29(b) to
the financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance subsisted during or at the end of
the year in which the Director or an entity connected with
the Director is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE BUSINESS
COMPETING WITH THE COMPANY

The Directors have no interest in the business that is
competing with the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Hong Kong, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to its existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No substantial contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or existed during
the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024, which
do not constitute connected transactions under the Listing
Rules are disclosed in note 29(b) to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there is no related party
transaction set out in note 29(b) to the financial statements
fall into the category of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transaction.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme
which covers all of the Group’s employees. Particulars of
these retirement schemes are set out in note 21 to the
financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$980,000 (2023: HK$1,390,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

Report of the Directors
EEERE

FAERXS
AREBREIF2024F 12 A3 BIE v FERETZEER
BRXSTERETRANEBETZEER HEN T B RERM T
29(b) °

Br i ER SN - B E M E T B B A5 3R 2R T 5E 20(b) FY AE A
BB AR BEEN AR SER EMRAETATEE
MEEXSHIFEBRERD - ARFIBERZIEHFE LT
FHAIB 4AEMIEERTE ©

BRETE
AEBR T — AR AR BT A EE2BZET -
SRR B 2 B FIBA B RS R i 21 -

HEBRM

AEBREE2024F 12 AN B2 FERNIEH v EERE
HIBFRA H 4978 1980,0007T (20234 : ##1,390,0007T) ©

BE  HEIEERG

HZE2024F 12 A31 B 1L AR A RETAHEBR RN
R EEE - HEXBEOEMAQG Z EHES -

RAXNRERE
READARABRERENENRRAAREEHRA -
RAERHEAH  RAOAEREEHARIRERA A
BH LTRARE Z ABRBBRE -

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR

33

- —ay ¥



ey

34

Report of the Directors
EZERSE

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statement’s have been audited
by RSM Hong Kong (“RSM”) who retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of RSM will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board

WONG, Man Hin Raymond
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company puts great emphasis on corporate
governance by reviewing and strengthening corporate
governance measures from time to time. The board of the
Company believes that shareholders can derive maximum
benefits from good corporate governance.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company was in compliance with the applicable code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the List of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises three executive Directors, two non-
executive Directors, and three independent non-executive
Directors listed as follows:

Executive Directors:

Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond (Chairman)
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing

Non-Executive Directors:
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma

Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson

Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen

The appointment of Directors is not fixed for a specified
term, but they are subject to the retirement and reelection
requirements at every annual general meeting pursuant
to the Articles of Association. Each of the non-executive
Directors (including the independent non-executive directors
(“INEDs”) is appointed for an unspecified term.
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All INEDs have complied with the requirements of the
Listing Rules and have submitted to the Company annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence
and confirms that all of them are independent parties as
defined in the Listing Rules. Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson
was appointed on 1 January 2013, Ms. LING, Kit Sum
Imma was appointed on 1 June 2020 and Dr. KO, Siu Fung
Stephen was appointed on 1 October 2021.

The family relationship among the Directors is summarized
as follows:

Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond is the son of Dr. WONG, Kin
Lae Wilson and cousin of Mr. WONG, Ying Man John and
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David.

Mr. WONG, Ying Man John and Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David
are brothers. They are cousins of Dr. WONG, Man Hin
Raymond and nephews of Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson.

Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson is the father of Dr. WONG, Man
Hin Raymond and uncle of Mr. WONG, Ying Man John and
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David.

The Directors have conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The Board convenes at least four regular meetings each
year, and will convene further meetings when necessary.
When a regular Board meeting is convened, the Board
documents will be sent to the Directors for review before
the meeting pursuant to the Listing Rules and the CG Code
so that the Directors can keep abreast of the information
to perform their duties and responsibilities. The Board
convened 4 meetings during FY2024.
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The attendance of directors is as follows: BEEHEBEROT :
No. of Board No. of general
meetings attended/ meetings attended/
eligible to attend eligible to attend
LEESEEE Attendance HEREA® Attendance
Name of Members W8/ RER Rate R/ HEER Rate
REER LEESEEENY LEE  HERRAERY hiEE
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond (Chaimman) &XEfE+L (L&) 44 100% 212 100%
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John BRELA 4/4 100% 2/2 100%
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing REts 4/4 100% 2/2 100%
Non-Executive Directors FHIEE
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson BEMEL 4/4 100% 212 100%
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David BEREE 4/4 100% 212 100%
Independient Non-Executive Directors BV BTEE
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson ERfEEE 4/4 100% 2/2 100%
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma BEZOTL 4/4 100% 2/2 100%
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen BoBET 4/4 100% 2/2 100%

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with
reference to their functions and responsibilities in the
Company, the performance of the Company and the current
market conditions. No Director is allowed to participate
in determining his own remuneration. The remuneration
received by Directors from the Company during FY2024 is
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Board has set up an independent professional
consulting procedure and upon reasonable request, the
Directors are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held
meeting with the INEDs without presence of other Directors
during FY2024.
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PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. All the Directors have participated
in continuous professional development, e.g. updated
Listing Rules training, to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills provided by the Group in FY2024. All Directors
were also provided with monthly updates on the Group’s
performance, position and prospects. All Directors have
provided the records of training they received in FY2024
to the Company. Details of the continuous professional
development participated by the Directors for FY2024 are
set out below:

ESNEXER

REBCEERTA  MEEFR2EBEREER  UH
BREMEMBNIGEE - MAESHE 2024 B FEEHL2 A
SENFEXHRR - PIEH LHRRNEI - ABRNEHN
SERHOMBMKEE - ERMAESRH T EHEEE
B BUMAISNEAEN - MAEFHERARRRM
WER 2024 B F R EZANIEIIFCE: - EEMN 2024 P HF
E2ENBETEXERFBHINNOT

Attending Reading
Name of Members training sessions material
REEE SHfHE BEER
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond (Chairman) & FaE+ (L&) v/ v
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John mERGEE v 4
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing RigssfEsE v v
Non-Executive Directors HEBITER
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson |mEAE L v v/
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David mBRGESESE v 4
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIHITEE
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson EEELE v v
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma RN v v/
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen SE 1N v v

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2024



ROLES OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is principally responsible for establishing the
development direction of the Group, formulating targets and
business development plans, approving major agreements
and matters, and monitoring the performances of senior
management. It is also responsible for corporate governance
with a view to enhance shareholders’ value. Led by the
three executive Directors, the management is responsible
for implementing the strategies and plans developed by the
Board. The Company has developed a schedule of matters
reserved to the Board for decisions and has separately
identified those functions reserved to the Board. The Board
will review those arrangements on a regular basis to ensure
that the arrangements meet the needs of the Company.

ROLES AND DUTIES OF CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman and the chief executive officer have different
roles. The Chairman is responsible for the operation of
the Board and the chief executive officer is responsible
for managing the operations of the Group. Their functions
have been clearly divided to ensure a balanced distribution
of power and no authority will concentrate on a single
individual.

Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond, the Chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and the chief financial officer, is
principally responsible for leading the Board and ensures
the Board to act in the best interests of the Company. The
Chairman ensures that the Board to operate effectively
and perform its proper duties and discuss all important
and proper matters in a timely manner. The Chairman is
responsible for convening Board meetings, consulting,
determining and approving the agenda of each Board
meeting, and ensuring that Directors are provided sufficient
information on current matters in a timely manner. The
Chairman oversees the structure, number of members and
composition of the Board and makes recommendations
to the Board and the relevant committees on any intended
changes. The Chairman is also responsible for ensuring
that the Company formulates good corporate governance
practice procedure.
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In addition, Dr. WONG is responsible for the Group’s financial
reporting, internal control, material procurement and control,
logistics, customs, taxes and legal matters and compliance,
coordinating close cooperation among all departments,
uniting efforts of staff and encouraging the initiative of staff
so as to ensure smooth and effective operation of the
Company’s operations and systems.

Mr. WONG, Ying Man John, the Vice-Chairman, an executive
Director and the chief executive officer, is principally
responsible for the daily operation and management of the
Group’s overall operations and implementing the Board’s
operating strategy and policy and delegating tasks to
all departments for implementation so as to realize the
Board’s objectives and decisions. In addition, he is also
responsible for research & development, production, quality
assurance and new product innovations, coordinating
close cooperation among all departments, uniting efforts of
staff and encouraging the initiative of staff so as to ensure
smooth and effective operation of the Company’s operations
and systems.

Mr. MOK, Kin Hing, an executive Director and the chief
operating officer, is principally responsible for the daily
operation and management of the Group’s overall
operations and implementing the Board’s operating strategy
and policy and delegating tasks to all departments for
implementation so as to realize the Board’s objectives and
decisions. In addition, he is also responsible for supervising
all personnel issues at our Nansha production facilities, all
capital equipment installation and disposal, and overseeing
all employee champions programs to optimize costs and
make sure our facilities are in full compliance with local,
international and environment laws and standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company’s corporate governance structure includes
the Board and three committees under the Board, namely
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee. The Board stipulates the terms of reference for
all committees in writing and specifies clearly the power and
responsibilities of the committees.
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The Board is also collectively responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties as set out in the CG Code,
which include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(i)  reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(i)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct applicable to employees and directors; and

(v reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) currently comprises three INEDs, at least
one of them have appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise,
namely Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma (chairlady), Mr. LO, Kwong
Shun Wilson and Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen. The Audit
Committee was established with specific written terms of
reference, mainly responsible for reviewing the consolidated
financial statements and annual and interim reports and
accounts of the Company, submitting relevant reports and
recommendations to the Board, reviewing the Company’s
financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems and making recommendations on the appointment
and remuneration of the auditors of the Company and any
matters relating to the termination of appointment. The
chairlady of the Audit Committee and is responsible for
reporting the results and recommendations of the Audit
Committee to the Board after each meeting.
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During FY2024, the Audit Committee convened 2 meetings.
Members of the audit committee and their attendance are
as follows:

R2024BEFE - EREZBE@HAM2REE - EXKEE
SRENMELFEEBERAT :

No. of meetings

attended/
eligible to attend Attendance
Name of Members HESEIE Rate
REAE EERHESRRE HER
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma (Chairladly) ERALNZE(FE) 2/2 100%
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson BEETE 2/2 100%
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen S8t 2/2 100%

Tasks undertaken by the Audit Committee during the
year included reviewing the audited consolidated financial
statements and the annual results announcement for the
year ended 31 December 2023, reviewing the interim
report and the interim results announcement for the six
months ended 30 June 2024, considering the accounting
standards adopted, reviewing the explanatory letter about
audit submitted by the auditors to the management and
the response of the management, the basis of opinion and
qualified opinion (if any) made by the auditors in their report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) currently comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson (chairman), Ms.
LING, Kit Sum Imma and Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen and two
executive Directors, namely Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond
and Mr. WONG, Ying Man John. The Remuneration
Committee was established with specific written terms of
reference, principally responsible for reviewing and approving
remuneration plans for Directors and senior management,
determining the remuneration package of executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits,
pension interests and the payment of compensation. The
Remuneration Committee should consider factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance
based remuneration. The chairman of the Remuneration
Committee is responsible for reporting the meeting results
and recommendations of the Remuneration Committee to
the Board after each meeting.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
model whereby the Remuneration Committee makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of executive Directors and senior management
and to make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors and INEDs.

Corporate Governance Report
bRERRE

FHEES
ARATNFHEES ((HFMEEE ) RAIBBEULIFNTE
E(DRRBEREERLE(ZR)  ZRLZLIERSLEE L)
E2RBTER (DR AEXEE L NERHEL) AKX -
FNZBeCKUERBEIZA R MMAEEERS
REBABNFMIR BERATEERSNEEENS
iF8 o BN S RS MEESN - HFHERES
EURBRARAXNONE S EFNREAGEIEE A%
B E A PT B R G RAERF MO TS EREER
R FMEZBEENEIFRAENERERRABEFTEREH
WEZEeNEBERNEBER -

FNZ B RAMUTES NS REEABNFMETER
Exegs  UFITERRBYIFNTESNHNRA
EFERNEZFNFIEL -

MREZEARART —ZT_NFFH

- —ay 7

43

p



~— w’?

44

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

During FY2024, the Remuneration Committee convened 2
meetings. Members of the Remuneration Committee and
their attendance are as follows:

R2024 M BFE  HMEEEBRIT2AEE - HHERE
SRERELFEBERNT :

No. of meetings

attended/

eligible to attend Attendance
Name of Members HEEBE Rate
REARE EEREESRRE HE =
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson (Chairman) — ZBE{E %4 (£/E) 2/2 100%
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma ERLZ L 2/2 100%
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen S8t 2/2 100%
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond EX#EEL 2/2 100%
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John ERHTE 2/2 100%

Tasks undertaken by the Remuneration Committee
during the year included reviewing the remuneration
structure, remuneration policy and bonus system of the
Group, assessing performance of executive Directors,
considering the salary adjustment for the year and
making recommendations to the Board and considering
remuneration of newly appointed Directors. The
Remuneration Committee also ensures that no Director or
senior management member determines his or her own
remuneration.

The remuneration policy of the Group is to determine the
remuneration of executive Directors and senior management
based on their responsibilities, qualifications and working
performance. No Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the five highest paid individual in the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to the Directors, employees and other eligible
participants. Details of the share option scheme are set out
in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

Save as disclosed, no other material matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were
required to be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration
Committee during FY2024.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) currently comprise three
INEDs, namely Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson (chairman), Ms.
LING, Kit Sum Imma and Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen. The
Nomination Committee is to deal with the appointment, re-
election and retirement of Directors.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy in January
2019. The nomination policy sets out the approach to
guide the Nomination Committee in relation to election,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors. It aims
to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience,
knowledge and diversity of the candidates.

The Nomination Committee considers that in terms of
professional experience, skills and knowledge and the
structure, size and composition of the Board, the present
members of the Board are generally in line with the diversity
policy of the Company concerning board members, meeting
the present situation and future development plan of the
Company.

During FY2024, the Nomination Committee convened 2
meetings. Members of the Nomination Committee and their
attendance are as follows:
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to article 95 of the Articles of Association, the
Board is entitled to appoint any person as Director from
time to time or at any time to fill a casual vacancy or add a
new member to the Board. For nomination, the nominee’s
qualifications, capabilities and potential to make contribution
to the Company shall be taken into consideration by the
nomination committee.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) in January 2019 which sets out
all measurable objectives to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board to enhance effectiveness of the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experiences and varying perspectives
appropriate for the Company’s business. All Board
appointments are made on a merit basis with due regard for
the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of
candidates are based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills and knowledge. The Nomination Committee will review
the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure its
continued effectiveness from time to time.
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The Board comprises Directors with a range of expertise
including chemical engineering, science and technologies,
corporate finance and accounting. The mix of the skills
and background of the Directors are appropriate taking
into account the business nature, corporate strategy and
structure of the Company. Besides, the Board is made
up of different age groups and both genders. The Board
considers that its current board composition is diversified
with appropriate balanced professional background, skills,
experience, gender and age. The following chart shows the
diversity profile of the Board as at 31 December 2024:

Number of Directors

EEAH
8
Female 2z |4
.
ED
6
5
4 Male NED
3 S
2
INED
1
0
Gender Designation
L3l 5

ED - Executive Director
NED - Non-executive Director
INED - Independent Non-executive Director
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liu Pui Yee (“Ms. Liu”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 9 February 2018. Ms. Liu is
responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully appraised of
the relevant corporate governance developments relating
to the Group and facilitating the professional development
of the directors. The Company engages an external service
provider to provide compliance and full range of company
secretarial services to the Company. The primary contact
person of the Company with Ms. Liu is Dr. WONG, Man Hin
Raymond, the Chairman of the Board, an executive Director
and the chief financial officer.

Ms. Liu has received no less than 15 hours relevant
professional training during FY2024.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors
and established written guidelines no less exacting than the
Model Code for senior management and specified persons
who are likely to possess inside information in relation to the
Group.

Having made specific enquiry to the Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code for the year ended
31 December 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate risk
management and internal control system to manage risks
on an ongoing basis to reasonably safeguard the interests
of the Company’s shareholders and the Group’s assets.
In addition, there is regular dialogue with the Group’s
internal and external auditors so that both are aware of the
significant factors which may affect their respective scope of
work.

INTERNAL
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The Board has approved an “Inside Information Policy” in
May 2013 with the aim to set out guidelines to the directors,
officers and all relevant employees of the Group to ensure
inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to
the public in equal and timely manner in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations. The term “relevant
employee” refers to employee of the Group, because of his/
her office or employment, who is likely to be in possession
of the unpublished Inside Information.

The Board has also adopted an anti-fraud and anti-bribery
policy. Directors and senior management are responsible
for ensuring the effective implementation, monitoring and
investigating any material fraudulent or bribery activities
committed within the Group.

The Group’s risk management includes regular identification
and review of business risks and control measures to
mitigate such risks. The Group’s internal control system
comprises an established organizational structure as
well as comprehensive policies and standards. Area of
responsibilities of each business and functional unit is clearly
defined to ensure effective check and balance. Procedures
have been designed to safeguard assets from unauthorized
use or disposition, and to ensure that proper accounting
records are maintained and financial information used
internally and for publication is reliable. The internal control
procedures provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material errors, losses and fraud; but deem
sufficient to ensure full compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

The Audit Committee and the Board carry out an
overview every six months on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of the
Group. The review covers all material controls, including
financial, operational and risk controls. No material risk
management and internal control aspects of any significant
discrepancies were discovered during the review. Both the
Audit Committee and the Board expressed satisfaction over
the effectiveness and adequacy of both the internal control
procedures and risk management procedures for the year
under review.

Corporate Governance Report
bRERRE

FEX2ER2013F5HBBIAREBEEREK] BENER
AARIREWNBARINES  BERFMAEEBEEREE
5l MR ALQR AR EERBERNEAREE TSR
MAREM - [FEES ] —FARKEALEENEES - FAM
MBI B THE © ATREMRE B A QAMHIREIEE ©

EXEeERMTREGFNRBEREE -EFNERERA
ERERRENER EENMATAEEANEENEMNE
REFFIEREAE ©

AEE R R EIE BT B ERMEE R AR SR E
R EIEHIIE e - NSRBI EBEHIHI R AEEEE - X
BRABEMEE - AR ESEEEMBERPINEET
HE - UBRERNBREMTE -EFEEREEER
EREEENERANGE - YHERZERE G &
P EB {50 PR A H AR O B 7545 BT 52 » RIERIR IR T R E KSR
M ERMEFFRESEETMBEMRE - ER B IARR
TEETERERESR

B REENESEENEAHAKRERREIEMARE
HEEN AR ETE2HREN BEREMAERERE
M MEM - RIEMERZ - £ BEHRIREERT
MEARBREBNMABZEH I ENEAEZR - BEHEES
MEZSRKEHEK  HAFEABEFZFMEREZE
FROBEBMEMIED HERTRE ©

MREZEARART —ZT_NFFH

49

*’7



e

50

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

The Board has reviewed and discussed the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of the Company at least
annually to access the management and control of the
risks in ESG. Further discussion on the risks related to
Environmental, Social and Governance are set out in the
separate Environment, Social and Governance Report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The finance department of the Company is managed by a
qualified staff and supervised by the Chairman and chief
financial officer, Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond, who is a
U.S. certified public accountant. With the assistance of
the finance department, the Board will ensure that the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group complies with relevant regulations and applicable
accounting standards.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
(including review of interim financial information and tax
services) for the year ended 31 December 2024 provided
by RSM Hong Kong and its affiliate were approximately
HK$820,000, and HK$170,000 respectively. The statement
of reporting responsibility issued by RSM Hong Kong, the
auditor of the Company, in respect of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 53 to 62.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has maintained communication with its
shareholders through the annual general meeting or other
general meetings and encourages them to participate in general
meetings. Registered shareholders of the Company receive
notices of general meetings by post. The notice of general
meeting contains the agenda, the proposed resolutions and
the voting form. All shareholders of the Company are entitled
to attend the annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meetings of the Company. Shareholders who are unable to
attend the general meeting can fill in the proxy form attached
with the notice of general meeting and return the same to the
share registrar and transfer office of the Company so as to
appoint their representatives or the chairman of the meeting as
their proxies.
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The Board has adopted a shareholders’ communication
policy in May 2013 (the “Shareholders’ Communication
Policy”). Its general policy is to maintain on- going
dialogue with the Shareholders and investing community
and to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The Board reviewed the
communication activities with the shareholders during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and based on such review
was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Right to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Pursuant to article 68 of the Articles of Association, an
extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
requisition as provided by the Companies Ordinance or by
the requisitionist. The Directors are required to call a general
meeting if the Company has received requests from the
Shareholders of the Company representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having a right to
vote at general meetings.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries can be in writing and sent for the attention of the
Board, in one of the following ways:

1. By Post Raymond Industrial Limited
Rooms 1811-1813, 18th floor,
Grandtech Centre,

8 On Ping Street,

Shatin, New Territories

Hong Kong

2. By email ril@rilhk.com
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Procedures to put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders who would like to put forward proposals at a
general meeting shall follow the procedures below.

Shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders who have a relevant right to
vote or at least 50 Shareholders who have a relevant right to
vote may request the Company to:

i) give notice of a resolution that may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at the annual general
meeting of the Company; or

ii) circulate a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed
resolution to be dealt with at a general meeting or
other business to be dealt with at the meeting;

to each Shareholder entitled to receive notice of the meeting.

A request to give notice of a resolution must be received by
the Company not later than () 6 weeks before the annual
general meeting to which the request relates; or (ii) if later,
the time at which notice is given of that meeting. A request
to circulate shareholders’ statement must be received by
the Company at least 7 days before the meeting to which it
relates. Such request may be sent to the Company in hard
copy form or in electronic form.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no significant change in the constitutional
documents of the Company during FY2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy in January 2019.
In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take
into account certain factors, including but not limited to
the Group’s expected and actual financial performance,
its retained earnings and distributable reserves, the
Group’s capacity from current and future operation, future
commitments at the time of declaration of dividend.

The dividend policy and the payment of future dividend are
subject to the Board’s continuing determination which would
be in the best interests of the Group and Shareholders and
are in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Raymond Industrial Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Raymond Industrial Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 147, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B %A RS

RSM

BANREXARATDZEBERR
(REEZMA L2 BRA])
=R

LA (AT ESHE [31F9 ) BB HIE R FE 63 E 147 BF
REZBRARATERIEAF D) REMBARI(AT
BREEEE])NRAVBERE  UEAVBHRREER
202412 A31 AMRA M BAAEK BEZALEFED
RABEER HDABEEREMZAEAKER  REERSE
FMGEReRBEBRUMGAVBHRENT  2REAS
BRI E -

BMRE  ZERAVBERREBRES SRS (E
BEITHAR ) BHANEENHBREENEEMATHR
M BEEN2024F 12 A31 HWG A PR R EE
EZHEFENGEVBREMMIARESTE  TEER
EBCRENER)DZ BREL -

RREE

BACRBREEGIMASHEMNBEETLEY((ERE
FHERI ) ETEAS TE - RARBEZZRANETE—Z
RN AR E [ RBENBARAVBHRERNEE] —FF -
RREBETMAEN [FXREFERTA] (A1)
BABYR BEEE ARFMERRTAIETEMERE
T HFIHRE - RAEDNETZEERY - BE - /%
RERFIVEFTTRRE TER -

MNREXBRAF

—EUEFR

53

v 4



4

54

F"‘)"f

Independent Auditor’s Report
R

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. The key audit matters
we identified are:

Key Audit Matter

RRETEE

1. Impairment of trade receivables

1. B 5 EWERFURIE

BEETEH

BRESEREREBERMNFTEHE - ERAENBHELE
EMBHRRNBEFTPREENFR - ZFFTRERME &
AEMBHRRETEREA LML EREREEE - 1AL
TR RIMERER - RPEENBREATAS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMANEFT AR ERARETEE

B 2IRR A BRI 40) K 18 -

Refer to notes 4(r) and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had significant trade
receivables of HK$204,120,000 (2023: HK$223,215,000).
No impairment has been recognised during the year.
R2024%12 4318 EXEEEXRESHRBERIEE
204,120,000 7T (2023 4F : 7 #5223,215,000 7T ) ° F A
EERRE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on
provision for loss allowances on trade receivables included:
BMEERERTEE S RB RS BB ERRITNER
B

° We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors including subjectivity;

BImAZE RGN T REHIRENaEE8IET
A At [E] 5 B B A 2= A9 K T 2R ATl B K B R 9 [
Rk :

° We understood and evaluated management’s
key control over the assessment on recoverability
of trade receivable balances and the related loss
allowances, including periodic review on trade
receivables;

B TR ATHEE IR BB S RUERR AR D
MR RARRE R R AN E B8 - BIETE BmE
B 5 IRBER
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BB R &

Key Audit Matters (Continued) BREESEE)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

RRETEE B E N AEEFERETSR

1. Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

1. B 5 W ERFUR(E ()

Refer to notes 4(r) and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
BREFETEHREM T 40) K 18

Management applied judgment in assessing the expected | We evaluated the outcome of prior period
credit losses. Trade receivables relating to customers with assessment of impairment of trade receivables
known financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection to assess the effectiveness of management’s
are assessed individually for provision for expected credit estimation process;

losses. Expected credit losses are estimated by grouping B T ATEA R R RUR B AT I A R - DARTAE
the remaining trade receivables based on shared credit EEEMTBAENERM

risk characteristics and collectively assessed for the

likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the | Checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of trade
customers, their geographical locations, and their aging receivables aging used by management to estimate
categories. Expected credit loss rates are then applied the appropriate provision for loss allowances;

to the respective gross carrying amounts of the trade AT - REETREGRNE SRR
receivables. The expected credit loss rates are determined ROEREE LA RHE S RE 1B RS

based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
with an adjustment to reflect current and forward-looking
information that affects the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables.

EREETEAREEEERERAE - B MBEMKR
HIHBRAEEARRBNT P EHENE SRR TR
HEEBREEETERTMG - HHEEERNREBHRRA
WEERBSHENSRNE S RIRTETOA - WiRs
FHEKEE AT RE Y - ARZEREFPHMLE  MIBLE R
R ARETEHEEBEERANEZRKENRER
WEREARE - HHEEEEXRBEERENE L EEEE
KERET - WHETAE  URBEEXFEERENRRE

8% BT BB -
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

RRETEE

1. Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

1. B 5 W ERFUR(E ()

BHRETSER@E

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EFNATEEBRENER

BRIRR A TR 40 K 18 -

Refer to notes 4(r) and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

matter.

The inherent risk in relation to the assessment of expected
credit losses on trade receivables is considered significant
as the impairment assessment involves significant
estimates and judgement which were subjective. Therefore,
we identified impairment of trade receivables as key audit

BB ER S R TN EAGE AL - RitRE5E
WR R EREB BRI A ERNEARREARREXN
o Bt - AP UK SORE RS AR ERt A -

Obtained management’s assessment on the
expected credit losses allowances of trade
receivables and assessed the reasonableness of
the expected loss rates. We corroborated and
validated management’s assessment based on
the historical settlement pattern, correspondences
with the customers, and evidences from external
sources including the relevant public search results
relating to the financial circumstances of the relevant
customers;

BISEEEHE ZRKEFTEREEBIERENT
ity WEHETEHEE RSB - RPUEERE
TEBENEL - DEBELENEKR - BEFH
BIERINIRORNERE - BIEEERE OB
AR AR

We assessed management’s assessment of current
market conditions and forward-looking information
such as macroeconomic factors by comparing the
data used by management against publicly available
information; and

BB EREERANBEEAREN - RFEE
BEHERNMSRANENEZERERRSART
HES R

We checked the mathematical accuracy of
management’s calculations for loss allowances of
trade receivables.

HifeE TERETEE HRERNE B EHNE
o
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BEETRIE
2. Valuation of inventories

2. FEME

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB R &

BHRETSER@E

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EFNATEEBRENER

Refer to notes 4(g) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRI T 49 K 17 -

The Group’s inventories were exposed to inventory
obsolete and excess risks as a result of the fast
technology innovation and macroeconomic challenges.
The determination of the provision amount is complex and
involves significant judgements and estimates because it
depends on the net realisable value of inventories.
HRRMRIFT AR R RBLELS - BESEENEFEHE
RERBRERE - BESENETEER B REXHE
Rfhst - AREBUARGFER AT SR #E -

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s net inventories
amounted to HK$134,683,000 (2023: HK$144,473,000).
Inventory is carried in the consolidated financial statements
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net
realisable value of inventory could be impacted by changes
in economic conditions as well as changes in customers’
preferences and competitors’ strategies in responses to
changes in market conditions.

R2024%12A31HR BEXEENFEFERABE
134,683,000 7T (2023 £F : # ¥ 144,473,0007T) - FE &
FE MBI IRARNEF] R FEREEIIR - FEH
AERFETEEXICERR B UARE PRI EFEF
HFRHET SRR CRRBRENTE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on net realisable value of inventories included:

BAYEREEHE R SR FEMNTHRTEE

o We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors including subjectivity;
BMmAERGESTN T REEHIREMEREEEM
& A Rk E=H KR EARE R E G R

o We understood and evaluated managements key
controls over the assessment of the net realisable
value of inventories and related loss allowances
including periodic review on inventories;

BT R A EREEHT A TR RS E N
HERERE (BEEGER) WBERES

° We understood and evaluated the appropriateness
and consistency of the basis management used
in estimating the level of provision for inventories
by comparing the historical accuracy of inventory
provisioning, on a sample basis, to the realised
amount; and reviewing the level of inventory write-
offs;

Hf@BUAMET R B EAFERERERS
HAERN - TRY T EREEGETFEREK
FRATERARERE - UREMFEMIEKTHEE
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Key Audit Matters (Continued) BREESEE)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

RRETEE BN F N AEERERETSR

2. Valuation of inventories (Continued)

2. FEME &)

Refer to notes 4(g) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRRFE T IHREN T 49 K17 °

The inherent risk in relation to the assessment of the net | e Checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
realisable value of inventories is considered significant as inventory aging used by management to estimate
the assessment of net realisable value involve significant the appropriate provision for slow-moving and
estimates and judgements which were subjective. obsolete inventories;

Therefore, we identified valuation of inventories as a key AR - REEEEFEANGTERE UEEHE
audit matter. HABRE T B RE S BB EREN

R A 5 FENTE S RERNEZE M MAE - Bt
BEGFEAZRFERENEERBERASEAN o | o Performed audit analytics on inventory holding and
At - B FEHERT AEREEE - movement data to identify products with indication
of slow-moving or obsolescence; and
HEEANTFENZSERETSEH ST - LHEE
TEHSBRTRMER &

o Compared the carrying amounts of a sample of

inventories to their net realisable value through a
detailed review of sales subsequent to the year
end. Where there were no subsequent sales of
the respective products after the year end, we
challenged management as to the realisable value
of the products, corroborating explanations with
the aging, sales orders, historical margins and
marketability of the respective inventories, as
appropriate.
BRFAREFRENFEEBN - BT AEE
BERmEERETERFEETHR - HREFK
BABELNER  BACMEERAZZERN
AEREERDER  WERKEK HETE B
FEEMNERAEBFEFENTISAHEE N (WER) £E
HfRH
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included
in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZEERE

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Companies Ordinance
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B %A RS

REMBFA S M BRRROEE ()

. HERCARBREGTEENES L - R (ERAH
BUSHERER) EEFEASHSIURARME T8
Y BERERECERNELERRANEX
THREEBLER - WERMR/TFEERTEE
1 AR EERBERETIRBIBLESMBEEHRER
MR ES (R EETR) B FINER - &
PR ERENBE R B HRE B A AEFHOERAE

e A RRBHFMNATRESR EREEE
. AHERAMBREANER R EBRAT - 81

BEIEEMHRRESRERAFINHNT AR
BRT R H R F A -

. AEYHMOTEERTUNENGHE SEEEANERH
EBEHOMBENNTEDEENEFER - UH
FEVBHRABERER - RMAREE  BEBLE
TREER - ZRADAEHFINEFERAEZ
BfE-

B (A ER) BetRAEE NS REEARER
(BREBEMEETPERNATIEHEARRE) BB TER
ABBE -

BRTREEERABRR-DORBE RFRMZETE
R M ERERR R - YA B A e SR E R
HEERBOMABEE(ER) BRAREEEEEEE
SAABEA -

MREZEARART —ZT_NFFH

- —ay 7

6l

p



= 7

F

62

Independent Auditor’s Report
R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ms. Leung Wan Yi Winnie.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

28 March 2025

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two,
28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
(For the year ended 31 December 2024)

melEmk
(BZ2024F 12 A31 AHIFF/E)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(UABEREN)
2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BiteE BT T BT T
Revenue L'ON 5 1,075,732 1,362,732
Cost of sales HHEMA (926,269) (1,179,007)
Gross profit EF 149,463 183,725
Other revenue E A A 6 17,236 15,178
Other net income EAtF Uz 6 9,868 11,809
Selling expenses HEER (12,369) (13,569
General and administrative expenses ~ —#& &7 E (110,055) (118,645)
Profit before taxation BRBE AT R R 54,143 78,498
Income tax expense FriS#ist 8 (8,924) (10,627)
Profit for the year attributable to ~ Z<A TR FEFELS
shareholders of the Company REERR 9 45,219 67,871
Earnings per share FREF
Basic, HK cents AR B 12 9.02 13.54
Diluted, HK cents 5 Bl N/ATRiE A N/A i B
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

(For the year ended 31 December 2024)

GEERREMZERER

(Bt 22024 F 12 A 31 A1 F/F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
b BT T BT T
Profit for the year attributable to x4 7R RE(L AR FEERF
shareholders of the Company 45,219 67,871
Other comprehensive income Ht 2 mEk =
ltem that will not be reclassified to BB TeEnEABEN
profit or loss: IHE -
— Revaluation gain arising from - - BE MR HEEEE
the transfer of property, plant WEMFEEENEHWE
and equipment to investment
properties 14 32,797 -
ltem that may be reclassified to profit ~ E/&rJeE2 B D FBAE A
or loss: HE -
— Exchange differences on - MEIBINE TS B TS IR R E A Y
translation of financial fEH =R
statements of foreign operations (5,610) (5,103)
Total comprehensive income AATRREMEAFEZZERE
for the year attributable to FEEC]
shareholders of the Company 72,406 62,768
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(At 31 December 2024)

a8

B IR R &

(2024 F 12 431 H#ZE.
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(B AHEN)

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE BT T BT

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE MR 13 125,732 119,077
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 5,553 6,990
Investment properties REME 14 32,800 =
Deferred tax assets RIEFIAE = 16 2,529 3,028
166,614 129,095

Current assets REEE
Inventories PEN=Y 17 134,683 144,473
Trade and other receivables 2 5 R E A EUARFK 18 229,710 248,009
Current tax assets BIEAFIAE 15 107 2,058
Bank and cash balances RITRIR S 19 349,130 367,415
713,630 761,955
Current liabilities RBAE

Trade and other payables B 5 REAMEIRER 20 201,565 215,764
Dividends payable FERTAR B 366 339
Current tax liabilities BNEAtiIB B & 15 2,396 1,249
204,327 217,352
Net current assets REBEEFE 509,303 544,603
Total assets less current liabilities ®AEERABHER 675,917 673,698

Non-current liabilities ERBARE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIIEAE 16 155 157
NET ASSETS EEFE 675,762 673,541

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARREE
Share capital LN 24(a) 467,676 467,676
Reserves e 208,086 205,865
TOTAL EQUITY RS 675,762 673,541

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and

are signed on its behalf by:

WONG, Man Hin Raymond
EXHE
Director

EF

20264 3 A 28 AEE S SHAELIXMETIE -

WONG, Ying Man John

BERHY
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(For the year ended 31 December 2024)
GEEREEX
(BZE2024F 12 A 31 HIFFE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LBBREN)
PRC
Share  Exchange statutory  Revaluation Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve earnings equity
RA& ERifE TEEERE EXGE RREN AR
(note 24(a))  (note 24(c)(l)  (note 24(c)(ii))  (note 24(c)(iv))
(Msk24(a)  (MzE24(0)) (PzE24(c)i)) (FHZE24(c)v)
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ik BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2023 R2023%1 A1 A&H 467,676 33,045 53,176 - 91,969 645,866
Changes in equity for 2023: 2023 ZEREH
Profit for the year RERRM - - - - 67,871 67,871
Exchange differences on RESNEBNIBRRES
translation of financil MEXZS
statements of foreign operation - (5,103 - - - (5,103
Total comprehensive income 2EYEEE - (5,103) = = 67,871 62,768
Appropriation to PRC statutory R ELETE R
resenve - - 2,123 - (2,723) -
Dividends approved in respect of B /ERR &,
- current year -AF 24(b)0) - - - - (15,040) (15,040)
— previous year -fiF 24(0)(i) - - - - (20,053) (20,053)
- (5,103) 2,728 - 30,055 27,675
At 31 December 2023 2023512 A 31 RS 467,676 27,942 55,899 - 122,024 673,541
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(For the year ended 31 December 2024)
GEERBERX
(B2 2024 F 12 A 31 HIFFE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(NBBREN)
PRC
Share  Exchange statutory  Revaluation Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve earnings equity
A& EXRE TELTHE EXfE REEF EHE o
(note 24(a)  (note 24(c|(i)  (note 24(cliii)  (note 24(c)(iv))
(Fizod@) (ME240) (REE24(c)i) (HiEE24(c)iv))
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 BTt A%t BT BETT BETT BETT

At 1 January 2024 R2024 51 A1 A& 467,676 27,942 55,899 - 122,024 673,541
Changes in equity for 2024: 20245 2 EEEH
Profit for the year TEERA - - - - 45,219 45,219
Exchange differences on BERNEBNIHRRES

tranlation of financial MELER

statements of foreign operation - (5,610) - - - (5,610)
Revaluation gain arising from n%E - BEREEERERE

the transfer of property, plant MEEENERYE

and equipment to investment

properties - - - 32,797 - 32,797
Total comprehensive income FENESE - (5,610) - 32,797 45,219 72,406
Appropriation to PRC statutory ~ PELATE B

reserve - - 4,904 - (4,904) -
Dividends approved in respect of ~ BRR &
— current year N3 24(0)() - - - - (20,053) (20,053)
~previous year -fiE 24(b)(i) - - - - (50,132) (50,132)

- (5,610) 4,904 32,797 (29,870) 2,221

At 31 December 2024 R2024 512 B 31 B8 467,676 22,332 60,803 32,797 92,154 675,762
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(For the year ended 31 December 2024)
= B

mEHERER

(BZ 2024 12 31 HIFFJE)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(B AREN)

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
s BT T BT T
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING K& ZBHHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation BREERTR A 54,143 78,498
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9 443 478
Depreciation of property, plant and WE -« BENERETE
equipment 9 26,500 26,115
Fair value loss on investment WEWEZ AR EEEE
property 6 900 -
Foreign exchange differences, net ERFER (3,485) (5,423)
Bank interest income RITALEHA 6 (17,236) (15,178)
Net loss on disposal of property, HEE - BRE MR EERFRE
plant and equipment 6 31 359
Obsolete moulds and toolings BEFR A T A REE
written off 9 2,003 23,588
(Reversal ofj/write-down of (EIBREE) RETEFE
inventories, net 9 (3,388) 2,089
Operating profit before working BESSSHAILERR
capital changes 59,961 110,526
Decrease in inventories FERL 13,178 51,841
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 MEMmEKERTR A (380)
and other receivables 18,299 (69,654)
(Decrease)/increase in trade B 5 MEMBEMRIK CRA) /180
and other payables (14,199) 8,846
Cash generated from operations EEELCZEE 77,239 101,559
Tax paid: FRIEZ I -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEMEBRE, (ZH)
refunded/(paid) 145 (5,772)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid AR EATSR S (5,508) (4,041)
Net cash generated from operating E& FEEL R EFE
activities 71,876 91,746
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(For the year ended 31 December 2024)

mEEERER
(BAZ 20244 12 A 31 HIFEE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(NB¥AREN)
2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FisE BT T BT
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING RETHEENRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and EEME - BE L&
equipment (37,931) (40,505)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYME - BERREBIIE
plant and equipment 170 1,672
Interest received FEHA 17,236 15,178
Net cash used in investing RELZBHTHZESFE
activities (20,525) (23,655)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING METBHELENRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid XATRRE (70,158) (35,105)
Net cash used in financing RELTBYHZEEFE
activities (70,158) (85,105)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN HeRBESESEEBE CBL), M
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FE (18,807) 32,986
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R1A1BZzBERESSEEE
AT 1 JANUARY 367,415 334,379
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEERSE 2L
changes 522 50
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MN12A31BZ2BER
AT 31 DECEMBER HEEEER 349,130 367,415
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH ReERRESEEEBHIW
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances SRITFNIR & 4583 19 349,130 367,415
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(B AREN)

. GENERAL INFORMATION

Raymond Industrial Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong. The address of
its registered office and principal place of business is Rooms
1801 — 1813, 18th Floor, Grandtech Centre, 8 On Ping
Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong. With effective
from 1 September 2024, the Company’s registered office
and principal place of business was changed to Rooms
1806-1813, 18th Floor, Grandtech Centre, 8 On Ping Street,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is sale of electrical
home appliances. The principal activities and other
particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Dr. WONG,
Kin Lae Wilson is the ultimate controlling party of the
Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements for year ended 31
December 2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”).

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards, issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). HKFRS Accounting
Standards comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (‘HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and with the requirements of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected
in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

() Application of new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards and interpretation issued by the

HKICPA for the first time, which are relevant to the Group

and mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning

on or after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current, and
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(“HK Int 5”) (Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

All amendments and interpretation listed above did not
have any material impact on the amounts recognised in
prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

(b) Revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new
standards and amendments to standards and interpretation,
which are not effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. The Group has not early applied the following
which may be relevant to the Group:

Effective for accounting
periods beginning
on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21
and HKFRS 1 - Lack of
Exchangeability

1 January 2025

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7 — Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments

1 January 2026

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 1 January 2026
Accounting Standards —

Volume 11

HKFRS 18 — Presentation
and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

1 January 2027

Amendments to HK Int 5 —
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

1 January 2027

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined by the
HKICPA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

(b) Revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

The directors of the Company are in the process of making
an assessment of what the impacts of these new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretation are expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements except for
the following.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of financial
statements”, introducing new requirements that will help
to achieve comparability of the financial performance of
similar entities and provide more relevant information and
transparency to users. Even though HKFRS 18 will not
impact the recognition or measurement of items in the
consolidated financial statements, HKFRS 18 introduces
significant changes to the presentation of financial
statements, with a focus on information about financial
performance present in the statement of profit or loss,
which will affect how the Group present and disclose
financial performance in the financial statements. The key
changes introduced in HKFRS 18 relate to (i) the structure
of the statement of profit or loss, (i) required disclosures for
management-defined performance measures (which are
referred to alternative or non-GAAP performance measures),
and (iii) enhanced requirements for aggregation and
disaggregation of information.

The directors of the Company are currently assessing the
impact of applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation and the
disclosures of the consolidated financial statements.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

3. BRAHEIREBIIEBYBREER (@)

(b) CEEMBEEMRERZEBTEEMBREE
Bl ()
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

(b) Revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments - Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

The HKICPA issued targeted amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7 to respond to recent questions arising in
practice, and to include new requirements not only for
financial institutions but also for corporate entities. These
amendments:

° clarify the date of recognition and derecognition
of some financial assets and liabilities, with a new
exception for some financial liabilities settled through
an electronic cash transfer system;

° clarify and add further guidance for assessing
whether a financial asset meets the solely payments
of principal and interest (SPPI) criterion;

° add new disclosures for certain instruments with
contractual terms that can change cash flows (such
as some financial instruments with features linked
to the achievement of environment, social and
governance targets); and

° update the disclosures for equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI).

The application of the amendments is not expected to have

significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned
otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. investment
properties that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgements or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 33.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Consolidation (Continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 4(r)). Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investments. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received or
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required if the carrying amount of the investment in the
separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets.

(c) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘“HK$”),
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2024

4, EBEAETEE®)

@) #HERE®)

KERENRS - GRS ARER GG T IAME - RERE
BINE TAMER  BRIFZXZPREMBZREERENE
B-MBARMNENBRRELERFSHFEHES - UERE
REBFIERAREER — -

(b) EBRMNIKEHRRK

RARBNFBARERT - RETER B ERETHZKAN
BOREREIR (RHFEAN) - KABRRENEZXBBNX
o MIEARMNERERAR AR R KB -

HBFARREEEBWHERRTOREEEBBRKREE
¥ EEREAMHMBHRRTOREEER  BEETHE
AU, o

(c) INEBRE
() DERZFES
MAREESEENTHREAMNEE DIREBLBHREN
= A
aN=)

IBRERENEE ((DRER DAHE - KAMBHRERMN
BT (HK$)) 251 - MAETAARARNINERZINEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)  Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss

(iii)  Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)  Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii)  Translation on consolidation (Continued)

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than cost of construction in
progress described below). Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any (see note

4(q).

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives at the principal annual
rates as follows:

Buildings held for own use
which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair
value of the building could be
measured separately from the
fair value of the leasehold land
at the inception of the lease
(see note 4(f))

4.0% — 4.5% straight line

Leasehold land is depreciated
over the unexpired term of
lease (see note 4(f))

2.0% straight line
Plant and machinery 9.0% — 18.0% straight line

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

9.0% — 33.3% straight line

Motor vehicles 25.0% reducing balance

and 18.0% straight line

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The cost of construction in progress includes the cost of
machinery, materials, construction expenditures and other
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working
condition for its intended use. Construction in progress
is not depreciated until it is completed and ready for its
intended use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit of loss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for
a currently undetermined future use and property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as investment
property.

Investment property are stated at fair value, unless they are
still in the course of construction or development at the end
of the reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

A property is transferred to investment property when, and
only when there has been a change in use. Such change
in use occurs when the property meets the definition of
investment property, and there is evidence of a change in
use. If an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, any difference between its carrying amount and fair
value at the date of change in use is treated as revaluation
in accordance with HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment
and recorded in other comprehensive income.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is withdrawn from use. Any
gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for
as described in note 4(m).

(f) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)  Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are primarily
warehouses and carpark. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the lease liability. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(B AREN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)  Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term. Impairment losses are recognised in accordance
with accounting policy set out in note 4(q).

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. The costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(h)  Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(h)  Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

(i)  Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets.

(i) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

() Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 4(r)).

(k)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) in accordance with the policy set out in note
4(r).

(I)  Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

(i) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()  Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(m) Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts
and sales rebate.

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sales of electrical home appliances is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being
when the goods have been shipped to the wholesaler’s
specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the wholesaler
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price
to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the goods. A receivable is recognised by
the Group when the goods are delivered to the wholesaler
as this represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage
of time is required before payment is due.

(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For credit impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(iii)  Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.

(n) Product development costs

Expenditure on development activities, whereby research
findings are applied to a plan or design for the production
of new or substantially improved products and processes,
is capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources
and the intention to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

(o) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)
(i) Pension obligations (Continued)

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer
MPF contributions expected to be offsetted as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in term of
HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it is measured on a net basis.
The estimated amount of future benefit is determined after
deducting the negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that
have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.

(p) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(p) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(p) Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model of the
Group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment
properties are measured based on the expected manner as
to how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
1o settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim
special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets
or in relation to qualifying expenditure (e.g. the Research
and Development Tax Incentive regime in PRC or other
investment allowances). The Group accounts for such
allowances as tax credits, which means that the allowance
reduces income tax payable and current tax expense. A
deferred tax asset is recognised for unclaimed tax credits
that are carried forward as deferred tax assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(q) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and
where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss to
its estimated recoverable amount unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the
fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-
generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
first against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata
amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused
by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment.

(r)  Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on trade
receivables and instruments that are measured at amortised
cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(B AREN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the industries in
which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic
expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies,
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s
core operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulffil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no
past due amount.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

S significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

= the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(B AREN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting
date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for
assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation. The discount rate used to determine the
present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

(t) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)
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4 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMKBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

5. REVENUE 5. LN

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by AFEERFEEMENKETFEHZBADENT
major products for the year is as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Revenue from contracts with REBMEREERNZE15FHEERRE
customers within the scope of BEEEHZIA
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products REEEmn i
— sales of goods - EMHE 1,075,732 1,362,732

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a  ANEE{ELA T Hb R (R H RSB EMRIESRA -
point in time in the following geographical regions:

Manufacture and sale of electrical
home appliances

SHASSENEEMNHEE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T T TT

Primary geographical markets FEMETS
- Asia - M 261,967 615,866
— Europe — BN 238,288 234,725
— Latin America - P T =M 250,882 218,049
— North America —dEEM 289,044 271,496
— Rest of the world - RZH 35,551 22,596
Revenue from external customers NP ZUA 1,075,732 1,362,732
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MEMBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABREN)
6. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET 6. HWARHMFKE
INCOME
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Other revenue Hnlr A
Bank interest income ERITHBHA 17,236 15,178
Other net income HiFa
Net gain on disposal of scrap materials H &R F5E 1,681 2,798
Net exchange gain b s TR 7,452 7,382
Net loss on disposal of property, plant  HEWE - HE &S HBEFE
and equipment (31) (859)
Government subsidy income R AT 48 B U 63 388
Fair value loss on investment property % &% 2 A [BEEE (900) -
Sundry income/(expense) Hiles, (BH) 675 (403)
Rental income from investment WEYFERSWE
properties 928 -
Rental income from other properties ~ Efth ¥ & Uiz - 2,003
9,868 11,809
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. DEEHR

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture AEEFZEXEBERERHERAER - RAEBENLE
and sale of electrical home appliances. The electrical ERIAFZEARLME ([FHE]) WRERBAEE - K&
home appliances are manufactured within the Group’s EMEESITERERNSRTHERE AEENTELE
manufacturing facilities located in the People’s Republic of ERH%H ) EMWELETER - BNERETERIRERSE
China (the “PRC”). The Group’s operating segments are ~ FIRaT(h - EEHEDEE P ©

determined based on information reported to the senior

executive management, being the chief operating decision

maker (“CODM”) of the Group for the purposes of resource

allocation and assessment of segment performance,

focused on customer locations.
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

7.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The identified reportable operating segments are as follows:

° North America — mainly including the United States
of America and Canada

° Latin America — mainly including Mexico

° Europe — mainly including the United Kingdom and
Netherlands

° Asia — mainly including the PRC, Korea, and Japan

For the operating segments of Australia and Africa, they
have been included within the “rest of the world” due to
neither of these operating segments meeting the quantitative
thresholds required for classification as reportable segments.

(@) Segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the profit or loss, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current
assets with the exception of tax balances. Segment liabilities
include trade and other payables, with the exception of
tax balances and dividends payable, attributable to the
manufacture and sale activities of the individual segments.
Segment non-current assets do not include deferred tax
assets.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.
The measurement used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation”. To arrive at adjusted
EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items
not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
other head office or corporate administration costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
MEMBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

7.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. oH&ER @
(@) Segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities (a) 7 EPIE#E - BEREF (&)
(Continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as BERE T AEEGZRETREE A B NS RER KTE
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management 73 &b IR 2 ERIE IR T X °

for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of

segment performance for the year is set out below.

Electrical home appliances

FRER
North America Latin America Europe Asia Rest of the world Total
12N HTEM B i A& ait

4| 3| A4 A | M| A3 | AU | B[ M| A AM4| A
HKS000 | HKSO00 | HKSO00 | HKSOOD | HKSOO | HKSO0D | HKSO0D | HKSO00 | HKSO00 | KGO0 | HKSOOO | HKSO0D
RETR [ ARTT | AMTR | A%Tn | BERR | BRTn | RNEm | ARTn [ AMTR | ARTn | #8fR | AR

Total reportable VLY )
segmentrevenue  THEABEUA
recognised at a
point n time 200044 | 271496 | 250862 | 218040 | 208288 | 234725 | 261967 | 615806 35,551 259 | 1075732 | 1362732

Total reportable TREABEEA
segment profi (BHEEBITDA)
(adjusted EBITDA) 502 15,961 25,690 12497 2875 13404 982 arior 1,881 129 63,850 89,913

Tota eportable segment 112,31 8 2755
assels asat AR
31 December - - - - - - | 877608 | 885,964 -

817,608 | 885,964

Tota reportable seqment 1412 31 B2 W3R
I as a pEEA
31 December - - - - - - | (201568) | (15764 -

o1569) | (o157

Additonstonon-curent AERFERHAHAREN
segment assets
urng the year - - - - - - 37,931 40,506 - - 37,931 40,505
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)
7.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment (b)

revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

DEBER (®E)
AREDTWA - B BEREBEZYHEE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ST I
Revenue A
Consolidated revenue LA A 1,075,732 1,362,732
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT TT
Profit or loss B
Total reportable segment profit S o EEn T (2 5% EBITDA)

(adjusted EBITDA) 63,850 89,913
Bank interest income ERITHBHA 17,236 15,178
Depreciation e (26,943) (26,593)
Consolidated profit before taxation SLEBRTART 54,143 78,498

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ST

Assets EE
Total reportable segment assets AHEDHBEE 877,608 885,964
Current tax assets BIHATR IR & 2= 107 2,058
Deferred tax assets RIERIAE = 2,529 3,028
Consolidated total assets REREE 880,244 891,050
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
MEMBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABEHREMN)
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. oWERE
(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment (b)) FHEDMBA - B - BERBBEZHIR
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities (%)
(Continued)
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEET T
Liabilities afE
Total reportable segment liabilities AHEsEBas (201,565) (215,764)
Dividends payable FERTAR B (366) (339)
Current tax liabilities BNEATRIE & 1B (2,396) (1,249)
Deferred tax liabilities BETRIERE (155) (157)
Consolidated total liabilities RABABE (204,482) (217,509)
(c) Revenue from major customers (0 FEEFBA

Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted HEERFHBZRA  BEFP DG AEEBLUA10%
to 10% or more of the total revenue of the Group, is set out kAL - FF3IEATS -

below:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Customer A ZEA 310,902 261,243
Customer B ZFEB 240,839 247,606
Customer C BFEC 151,966 153,991
Customer D =2FED 132,859 462,470
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(@) Income tax has been recognised in profit or

loss as follows:

8. FrEBixH

() FHEBDIEBETRRNT

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current tax - Hong Kong BEAFIE - HBATEH
Profits Tax
Provision for the year (note 15) FARE (FE15) 4,213 1,803
Under/(over)-provision in respect of BEFERE IR GREEE)
prior years 10 (65)
4,223 1,738
Current tax - PRC Enterprise BNEAFLE - PRI EFTEH
Income Tax
Provision for the year (note 15) FARE (FE15) 2,849 8,494
PRC Withholding Income Tax for the  F R BEITEHIFTSEL
year 2,126 2,654
Over-provision in respect of prior years @1t EBEa R (732) (2,057)
4,243 9,091
Deferred tax ELEBIE
Origination and reversal of temporary i = £ E £ FE O (FiiE16)
differences (note 16) 458 (202)
8,924 10,627

Notes:

i) Hong Kong Profits Tax

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying group entity
established in Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25%, and profit
above that amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%.
The profits of the group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered Profit Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a

rate of 16.5%.
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Notes:

(i)

(i

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Income tax has been recognised in profit or
loss as follows: (Continued)

(Continued)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax

A subsidiary in the PRC was qualified as a high and new
technology enterprise and taxed at a preferential tax rate of
15% (2023: 15%).

PRC Withholding Income Tax

PRC Withholding Income Tax under double tax arrangement
at a rate of 5% would be imposed on payment relating
to dividend received to the Company that holds directly
at least 25% of the payer’s capital. Such tax rate may be
further reduced by applicable tax treaties or arrangements.

The reconciliation between the income tax
expense and the product of profit before
tax multiplied by the applicable tax rates is
as follows:

f i

(i)

(i)

(b)

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

FR8®isT b ()

PGB EREP|ABWME : (&)
()

Bl R FTEH

—FHERPENME AR ERRRRIIRREE - R15%H)

BEMRREF (20234F : 15%) °

FhEIFEFIATS T

RIBEBRB LY - PEBGIZ5% B R BURRERFAN
RAED25% BEARN A RBIH R BB REHFIE - EHHN
B E Sk 2 PER] e & — IR -

FrEsBRARMNABERUERRRNRE
ZERERMT -

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit before taxation FREERTR A 54,143 78,498
Notional tax on profit before taxation, &A@ R EAB KA E 2
calculated at the rates applicable to  BR L AT E F 2 & FiIE
profits in the jurisdictions concerned 8,592 12,085
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N A FIER ST 7 B i s & 792 805
Tax effect of non-taxable income FEERTIUMNA 2 BTG & (1,882) (2,549)
Effect of temporary differences not BEREERBIARITE
recognised 19 (113)
Over-provision in respect of prior years B1E < E BB (723) (2,122)
PRC Withholding Tax hEFEINRT IS 2,126 2,654
Tax effect of research and MEBWIR LT E
development tax credit - (133)
Actual tax expense BERHRIEL 8,924 10,627
FIREZEARAT —ZT-paEsg |05
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

9. FE&HN

AEBAFEERMEFTA (R A THIA -

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Staff costs (including directors’ ETRA(BIEESM< (HE10))
remuneration (note 10))
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMET 221,417 220,372
Discretionary bonuses BB 2 fEAL 3,267 5,416
Contributions to defined contribution SR E #FE RS 2 L FKEE
retirement plans 17,077 16,448
241,761 242,236
Other items Hig g
Cost of inventories sold (note (i)) FEHERA (FEEG) 927,604 1,153,330
Write-down of inventories FERE 264 2,424
Reversal of write-down of inventories 77 & Ji (& [a] (3,602) (335)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 443 478
Depreciation of property, plant and M - EREETE
equipment 26,500 26,115
Auditor’s remuneration %R B &
— Audit services - FErEHA
e provision for the year o FNHEHE 820 780
e under-provision in prior year o BEFEEETRE 43 40
— Non-audit services - JEEFTEA 170 160
Product development costs (note (i) & M3 EAA (HTEE (i) 40,727 46,767
Obsolete moulds and toolings written @518 B K T B 5REF (B (iii))
off (note (iii) 2,003 23,588
Expenses relating to short-term HEAEEAENER (BEE—%
leases (included in general and TRERF) (FEEv)
administrative expenses) (note (iv)) 1,203 502
Expenses relating to leases of low HEEELEEMNESHENER (81
value assets (included in cost EFERAFM—RTEERF) (BT v)
of inventories and general and
administrative expenses) (note (iv)) 97 473
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(i)

(iv)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Cost of inventories sold includes approximately
HK$193,627,000 (2023: HK$196,331,000) relating to staff
costs and depreciation, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above.

Product development costs include approximately
HK$29,693,000 (2023: HK$27,539,000) relating to staff
costs and depreciation, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
launched various new items and products with new
specifications, significant quantities of moulds and tooling
were considered obsolete as new models and products are
in place.

Consequently, the Group obsoleted and wrote off moulds
and tooling with carrying amount of HK$23,588,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group leases various warehouses and carpark for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of one month to two years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

(i)

(i)

(iv)

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

FEBRMN @

FERABEE TRARITE AH1 193,627,000 7T (2023
¢ 7% 196,331,0007T) * INEIER L ERIHESIBE
FiEerE -

EMmPEAABIES M E TRARITE QB 29,693,000
JC (2023 4F : ¥ 27,530,0007T)  INEIER il #5518
BREEE-

HE2023F12A31AIEFE  AEBEHEL TSEAEFH
BMEMFBERNER  BEFLRNERNEIN - KSE
AMTEWRBELIBEE -

AEBREZE2023F12 A 31 B IEFEAHRELIMERER
BB 23,588,000 T AR T A -

HE2024F 202312 A3 HILFE  AEBHEES
ErEREEGAHEE - HEARMNRITHRA—EA
EMF - AEKZRBREBAABRAHBEN  2E&ETNH
RMERAN Y - EREE A E ST E AT REBENEE
B - AEEEAARKNEEWHETE A R HRITHIR -

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMKBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REMN)

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10. EEMWRIZFZFER
(@) The remuneration of every director is set (a) BUEZHNMEIHIIWT :

out below:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

BEARCES (FREFLAZRFAR) RENHEIEUMHE

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Discretionary  Retirement
Directors’ in kind bonuses scheme
fees - #15 contributions Total
e  REREFN  BR2BA  BAREHER At

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERTR BRI ik R BETT BRI

Year ended 31 December 2024

22024512 A3 BEEL

Executive directors HTES
Dr. WONG, Man HinRaymond ~~ EXEEL (/)

(Chairman) 240 3,878 586 300 5,004
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John BRBRE(FERE)

(Vice-Chairman) 200 4,000 486 240 4,926
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing Rf@faE 200 2,288 386 162 3,036
Non-executive directors FHTES
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson BT 180 250 2 - 456
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David BRALE 180 - 26 - 206
Independent non-executive BUYFHTES

directors
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson BEGEEE 240 - 26 - 266
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma EROET 240 - 2 - 266
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen gL 240 - 26 - 266

1,720 10,416 1,588 702 14,426
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
MEMBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

0. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS  10.

(Continued)

(@ The remuneration of every director is set (a)
out below: (Continued)

ESENRENER (5

BUEENMESHIOT : (8@

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

RREAREEZ (THEARAREFLAR) RENHEIEEME

Salaries,
allowancesand  Discretionary Retirement
benefits in kind bonuses scheme
Directors’ fees e BIE  contributions Total
we  OERREF R BRARSHEK At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT
Year ended 31 December 2023~ Z2023F 12 A31 BEEIE
Executive directors BTES
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond ~ EXBEEL (%)

(Chairman) 220 3,888 497 300 4,905
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John ERGKE(FEE)

(Vice-Chairman) 170 3,988 397 240 4,795
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing Rfemgs 150 2,122 297 162 2,731
Non-executive directors FBTES
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson EBYFEL 150 190 - - 340
Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng (note (i)~ RRIEMESL4 (BHEE()) = S = - -
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David B L 150 - - - 150
Independent non-executive BIUFHTES

directors
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson REELE 210 - - - 210
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma ERLZ L 210 - - - 210
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen PN 210 - - - 210

1,470 10,188 1,191 702 13,551
FMEBEARAT —TIIFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(@)

The remuneration of every director is set
out below: (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
there was no amount paid or payable by the Group to the
directors or any of the highest paid individuals as set out in
note 11 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Except for the agreed waiver of director’s fee for the year
ended 31 December 2023 by Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng,
there was no other arrangement under which a director
has waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Note:

0} Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng has agreed to waive his director’s
fee during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
resigned on 21 December 2023.

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Other than those disclosed in note 29(a), no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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10. ESHAZNER®)

@ BUEENMESH|HIIWOT : (&)

HE2024F K 2023 F 12 A1 BILEFE » REEBHES
SRENEE SR T 11 ATt 9 B Bl & = B BN A B AN
AREBOFR S INASNEB B BERAHE -

BEEFEBELARIERPEHE2023F 12 A1 BILEENE
EREIN  WEEMTHAIACKRAENERE 2024 F K&
20234 12 A 31 B ILFE T FEN -

BfRE -

i) BEFIE AR BERREE2023F 12 A1 HILEENES
B MR 20234F 12 A 21 BEHT »

by EBERERS ZTHRERPHEKRFZE

BrBI5E29(a) #E R AN » FAGE A ok A (A (T {n] B T 1BE A EE AKX A

BRI ZAEBEERARBEEREFMETAEK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included three (20283: three) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in note 10. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2023: two) individuals are
set out below:

Sa

. EUERSEHMAL
NEESNUZSHMA TR EIESAL (20234 : 37 ) EE -
BEZMESESHNMFEI0 BT 201 (2023F : 2L ) &=

BALZHEDT

75 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT IT

Salaries and other emoluments E =R = 1,466 1,220
Discretionary bonuses BIS B RRICLL 400 340
Retirement scheme contributions RIRE R 160 100
2,026 1,660

The emoluments of the other two (2023: two) individuals
with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

BRI R HEA L 24 (2023 % : 2f7) & ARSI :

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
HK$Nil - HK$1,000,000 BT T 281,000,000 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 7B 1,000,001 JTTE B 1,500,000 7T 1 =

2. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company of HK$45,219,000 (2023: HK$67,871,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
501,324,000 (2023: 501,324,000) shares in issue during the
year.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, no
diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company had
no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding.

2. BREF

=T E TR E AR 2 F R A A B RS R (R AR E RS
45,219,000 7t (2023 4F : B 67,871,000 7T) MABEERZ
21T INRE R 501,324,000 (2023 4F = 501,324,000)
TR o

HE2023FER2024F 12 A1 BILEE - IR ARIEER
EFBZHRSABEENRBLER A RFBREE
B F o

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SEMKBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y%  BERRERFEHAEEE
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Buildings Furniture,
held for fixtures and
Construction ownuse  Plantand  equipment Motor Right-of-use Total
inprogress  %ABMA  machinery il vehicles  Sub-total assets HETEE
FEIR  ZBEYM  BERME  LERREG RE Nt EREEE &t
HKP00O  HK$000  HKS0OD  HKSO000  HK$000  HKSOOD  HKSO000  HK$(000
ARt BEfT RETm AT BEfr REfm BT BETr
Cost A

A1 January 2023 20031418 1,215 176,946 208224 172,549 13,205 592,139 20354 612493
Bxchange adjustments i b ) (2572 (2.291) (2,38) (99) (7,387) (262) (7.649)
Additions m 21,55 - 7,700 8,348 2,902 40,505 = 40,505
Transfers g% (14.437) - 6,466 7971 = 5 5 =
Disposals e/ - (1,074 (116257)  (138,714) B032)  (264077) - esom)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%E12A31B 8262 173,300 123,842 47,7% 7980 31,180 20,092 381272
A1 January 2024 20041418 8262 173,300 123,842 477% 7980 31,180 20,092 381272
Exchange adjustments JoRie (125) (3,020 (1,571) (1,522 (69) (6,307) (310) (6,617)
Addtions i 23218 = 3820 8585 2308 37931 = 37931
Transfers gy (26,370) - 5,964 20,366 40 5 5 =
Disposals W& /B - - (9,147) (11,747) (874 (21,769) S (21,769)

Transfer to investment properties SRERENE (MH14)

(note 14) = (7.457) = = = (7.451) (1,989) 9.436)
At 31 December 2024 R204F12A31B 4985 162,829 122,908 63478 9385 363585 17,797 381,382
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE
At 1 January 2023 120231418 = 158,505 177,134 112925 1,077 450,641 12,802 472483
Bxchange adjustments HARE - (2,269) (1,425) (1,430) (79) (5,195) (178) (5,373)
Charges for the year TEENE - 1462 6,360 17,647 646 2,115 478 26,593
Disposals &/ HE - (966) (105508  (124839) 7,147 (238459) - (238459
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F 12318 - 156,736 76,563 4303 4501 242103 13,102 255,205
A1 January 2024 #R2024F1A1R - 156,736 76,563 4303 4501 242103 13,102 255,205
Exchange adjustments RERE - (2,69 (561) (453) (28) (3,735) (219 (3,954)
Charges for the year TERRE - 1,190 7205 16,801 1284 26,500 443 26943
Disposals e /B - - (8,239) (10,545) (786) (19,564) = (19,564)
Transfer to investment properties ERERENE (MH14)

(note 14) = (7.457) = = = (7.451) (1,082 853))
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 12318 = 147,782 74,994 10,106 4971 237853 12,244 250,097
Net carrying value FE#E
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A318 4985 15,047 47914 53372 4414 125,732 5553 131,85
At 31 Decerber 2023 #2023F 124318 8262 16,564 47219 43493 3479 19,077 6990 126,067
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Right-of-use assets represent leasehold land under medium-
term leases. The Group owns several industrial and office
buildings where its manufacturing facilities and office
premises are primarily located. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including the underlying
leasehold lands. The leasehold land components of these
owned properties are presented separately only if the
payments made can be allocated reliably.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

13. Y% BERRERFEAEEE®)

ERAEEERTHEETHNEED - AEEHALET
EMPARE - HEERERRDGHEBLRNZHAIKN
B ARERzEYFEED (BRARBEE L) Mm%
BA - BEMXNRIBRAAIEDERR  ELEAME
MBEETHE S T ERZS

The analysis of carrying value of properties is as follows: VIEERMFELTOT
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Medium-term leases HESTHE
—in Hong Kong - B8 1,431 2,409
— outside Hong Kong - BB 19,169 21,145
20,600 23,554
Representing: #HPK -
Buildings held for own use FEBAREED 15,047 16,564
Right-of-use assets REEE 5,553 6,990
20,600 23,554

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

14.  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 4. REWZH

2024
HK$’000
BETT
At 1 January ®1A1H -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 13)  ERSEWE - B M &E (HFE13) 903

Revaluation gain recognised in other comprehensive R Efth4R & W as R HER A EE U ES
income 32,797
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss RERERN R EBEERE (900)
At 31 December ®12 A31H 32,800

On 1 April 2024, the Group leased out a portion of an
owner-occupied building to generate rental income.
Accordingly, that portion of property, plant and equipment
was reclassified as investment property when the owner-
occupation ceased.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as of
the date of transfer from property, plant and equipment
to investment properties was valued by an external
independent valuer at HK$33,700,000.

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2024
on income capitalisation method. The valuations were
performed by the external independent valuer.

The Group leases out the investment properties under
operating leases with fixed rentals receivable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 3 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated
in HK$. The lease contract does not contain residual value
guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at
the end of lease term.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2024

R2024F 41 H  ASEEHHA—EEXFTBBHEFH—I
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REME  BEER
KM RABEARIMNEEY

REEAREYMEER  NEBKREY
M (H{ERG{E A8 #33,700,0007T ©

KEYER2024F 12 A31 HiRGZ BE AL E#E
(HERINPB (L EMETT -

1TEE -

AEERBEELHELEREDE  SARREEHER
HENMRERARER=F -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
MEMBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

I5. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 15. RGREBMBERTROFAEH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial 45 & B #5ik i3k 2 BIERFRS Y -
position represents:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
Provision for the year (note 8(a)) REZE R (FIFE8@)
— Hong Kong Profits Tax - BBFEH 4,213 1,803
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax - B EATIER 2,849 8,494
7,062 10,297
Provisional tax paid FENFR S H
— Hong Kong Profits Tax - BAMEH (1,817) (3,773
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax - PR EMEH (2,958) (6,655)
(4,775) (10,428)
2,287 (131)
Balance of income tax relating to prior 3B FE TSR B EE %
years 2 (678)
2,289 (809)
Represented by: EX
Current tax assets BIEATRIE & B 107 2,058
Current tax liabilities BNEATRIE B 1B (2,396) (1,249)
(2,289) 809

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

I6. DEFERRED TAX

Analysis of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

l6. IEIEFIIE

ERRAEERBBEINAOT ¢

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Deferred tax assets RETHTEEE 2,529 3,028
Deferred tax liabilities BRETRIERE (155) (157)
2,374 2,871
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised ~ ANFERGREMBURRAERTFERRZELEREELE (A
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the &) BB R HEB) 2 5B T
movements during the year are as follows:
Depreciation
allowances
in excess of
the related Other
depreciation temporary
ABRITEEX differences Total
RERITE Hin g EmER &5t
HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT BT BT T
Deferred tax arising from: EEBRIEZELER !
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A1 H (157) 2,863 2,706
Exchange adjustments ekl ol ol -7 = (37) (37)
Credited to profit or loss (note 8(a)): st AFEE S (K5 8(a)) 2 200 202
At 31 December 2023 R 2023412 A31 H (155) 3,026 2,871
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 A1 H (155) 3,026 2,871
Exchange adjustments HhEg) o8 - (39) (39)
Credited to profit or loss (note 8(a)): st AfEiEzE (HiFE8(a)) 2 (460) (458)
At 31 December 2024 R2024% 12 A31 H (153) 2,527 2,374
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
MEMBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(B REN)

7. INVENTORIES 7. #E&
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Raw materials FE 43,172 48,973
Work in progress K 19,462 21,503
Finished goods EERK 72,049 73,997
134,683 144,473

During the year, certain aged inventories were sold because RMFA @ BRAEERBRBRELETHRETE - ALTFER
the Group exerted significant effort in selling these aged 1B % [61 % ¥ 3,602,000 7T (2023 4F : 7 #5 335,000 7T ) B
inventories, a reversal of write-down of inventories of RHFFAFALEFERA -

HK$3,602,000 (2023: HK$335,000) has been recognised
and included in cost of sales.

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. EZRHEAMEWERIK
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade receivables B S EIRER K 204,120 223,215
Other receivables H b fr U BR TR 20,386 18,891
Deposits and prepayments SN 5,204 5,903
229,710 248,009
FRELARAT —T_JUEFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

I8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18.

(Continued)

(@) Ageing analysis

The ageing analysis of trade receivables as of the end of the

(2)

reporting period, based on invoice date, is as follows:

B 5 R HMEWRRR (&)

Rl AT

RERRE SRR IZERR R 2R

T

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT
Within 1 month 1EAR 63,956 66,298
More than 1 month but less than BiE1EAERIRIEA
3 months 106,917 118,850
More than 3 months but less than BE3EAELR12/EA
12 months 33,241 38,067
Over 12 months BB 1218 A 6 =
204,120 223,215
The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on AEBEHEEFHNEZ KR EUNEEAER - EEHRA
credit. The credit term generally ranged from 30 to 120 &30 & 120K - AEE Z ZEERFH#HAHE27() ©
days. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out
in note 27(a).
(b)  Trade receivables that are not impaired (b) RERBEZEZEWERMR
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither 8B NI RMERE ZEBERF < Rk DT -
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Neither past due nor impaired RAEBHATORE 172,481 188,083
Within 1 month past due BE BN 1 A A 27,545 32,390
More than 1 month but less than 3 B ERRRE 1 B B 31E A
months past due 4,070 2,570
More than 3 months but less than 12 @ HfEBA3 @A E LR 12{@A
months past due 24 172
Amounts past due but not impaired B Ei& FE{ERERE 31,639 35,132
204,120 223,215
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1I8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(c)  Currency analysis

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

18. EBESNEMEWERT®)

(c) EH¥DH

REEE 5 RUARROBREEEA T IIEREE :

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
HK$ BT - 49
United States Dollars (“‘US$”) E7T 158,094 183,602
British Pounds (“GBP”) HiRE 14,978 12,577
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR 31,048 26,087
Total =18 204,120 223,215

19. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 19. RITRBEEEEH
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ST I

Time deposits with original maturity 318 B A2 HR) E HiTF %

within 3 months 191,489 244,251
Cash at bank and in hand WRTERNRS 157,641 123,164
349,130 367,415

As at 31 December 2024, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$8,865,000
(2023: HK$4,694,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

R2024F 12 A31H  AEEUARETENRITRIRS
“E5 5B 8,865,000 7T (2023 4F : B4 4,694,0007T) ° A
R¥& Wi A INE 8 <R BRI HMNE B R IR DI AETE - 35
EMTRERIGH) -

MREXBRAF

ZEZUFEFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(NBMAREN)
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. BEZRHEHMEMSERN
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Trade payables (note a) B SN (M3t a) 145,980 148,343
Accrued charges and other payables — JE{H & 3 & E b fE{S BRFX 55,547 67,415
Contract liabilities (note b) a#aE (Fisob) 38 6
201,565 215,764
The above balances are expected to be settled within one A EFIBFEEAA 1 FRZLT ©
year.
Notes: Btk -
(@) The ageing analysis of trade payables as of the end of the  (a) RWERREFENESNREZAHZRRANNOT -

reporting period, based on invoice date, is as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Within 1 month 1EAR 49,580 51,103
More than 1 month HBiE1EAELKRIEA
but less than 3 months 73,533 81,172
More than 3 months BiB3EAELH12{8A
but less than 12 months 21,948 15,377
Over 12 months B@1218A 919 691
145,980 148,343
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are  A£EE ZEMNEFORAGEN 7 EEE -
denominated in the following currencies:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
HK$ BT 5,056 6,127
us$ EYH 30,161 26,196
RMB AR 110,763 116,020
Total S 145,980 148,343
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(NB¥AREN)
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)  20. B 5 R E MR (50
Notes: (Continued) PIEE - (88)
(b) Contract liabilities represented the biling in advance of sales  (b) EHBERATFHE T RATELE -
of goods from customer.
Movements in contract liabilities: AHBENED
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Balance at 1 January W1 A1 BEss% 6 684
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FEERERWA MR EREE
recognising revenue during the year - (684)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of AR EMEEIRATFAZERARAEEM
billing in advance of sales of goods 32 6
Balance at 31 December ®12 A 31 B4 38 6

There is no amount of billing in advance of performance received
that is expected to be recognised as income after more than one
year. (2023: HK$Nil)

21. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLANS

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
plans which are available for eligible employees in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Group has joined defined contribution retirement schemes
for the employees arranged by local government labour and
security authorities (the “PRC Retirement Schemes”). The
Group makes contributions to the PRC Retirement Schemes
at the applicable rates based on the amounts stipulated
by the local government organisations. Upon retirement,
the local government labour and security authorities are
responsible for the payment of the retirement benefits to the
retired employees.

RETRRTERR S — R R RRANTR KIS - (2023 © )

21, REHRFEMAKEE

AEERATEREBAERES R EHRFRAG S

#HaR o

REBEFEMERZEZEZER  AKECMAZRBFESBRE
FIAE TR FERTCRA B ([PERBKEE ) -
AEBEREEMRFRERENSRIDEREXRAFTEER
REHBIHAR - RIKIR - BT S BREPIR EREK
BT fRIKER -

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

21. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLANS (Continued)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong)
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong
Kong) (the “Ordinance”). The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and the
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024,
the Group had no forfeited contributions under the PRC
Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme and which may
be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions
available at 31 December 2023 and 2024 under the PRC
Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme which may be used
by the Group to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

22.  BANKING FACILITIES

At 31 December 2024, the Group had unsecured revolving
banking facilities of HK$13,554,000 (2023: HK$13,349,000).
The banking facilities include documentary letters of credit,
trust receipt, bill payables, trade loans, trade guarantee and
corporate credit card. The amount utilised by the Group at
31 December 2024 under these facilities was approximately
HK$24,000 (2023: HK$6,000).

23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme which was
adopted on 10 October 2024 for the purpose to give eligible
participants incentives or rewards for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group (Refer to the Report of
the Directors in the Annual Report for the details of the share
option scheme).

No share option issued or outstanding at 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(NB¥AREN)
24. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 24 B - FERRE
DIVIDENDS
(@) Share capital @ BE
Issued share capital BRITRA
Number of
shares Amount
BELE ot |
HK$’000
FEHETIT
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: TR BEBITRERE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R2023F1 A1 H 202312 H31H8 »
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 2024F1 A1 H 2024 F 12 A31H 501,324,860 467,676

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

EARTAABEINREBMEROERE - XERRAE
EeR L REN-—FERERR - 1A T BEREREERIR
BEHMERFHA -

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

24. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 24 EBX - FERKRE (&)
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b) Dividends by KRE

(i) Dividends payable to shareholders of the (i) REZEMNREEARQTRREN
Company attributable to the year

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interim dividend declared and BB Rk 2 H Hf
paid of 4 HK cents per & B AR E R 410
ordinary share (2023: 3 HK cents (2023 % : GRRIL BB 3ML)
per ordinary share) 20,053 15,040
Final dividend proposed after RS BRI R 2 R
the end of the reporting period of & S ARSI 210
2 HK cents per ordinary share (2023 % : BRREL BB 410)
(20283: 4 HK cents per
ordinary share) 10,026 20,053
Special dividend proposed after RS BIRIE IR 257
the end of the reporting period of & S ARSI 61l
6 HK cents per ordinary share (2023 % : BRE BB 61L)
(20283: 6 HK cents per
ordinary share) 30,079 30,079
60,158 65,172
The final and special dividends proposed after the end of the ~ R IREEIRB EH T MR E 2 KB & &R A% HHIR
reporting period have not been recognised as liabilities at the ~ RERABEE °

end of the reporting period.
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24. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b) Dividends (Continued)
(ii) Dividends payable to shareholders of the

Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

24. EBX -  REERRE @)

(b) KRB

(i) RBEFERMREEAXQAARREERELFE
EHER T

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Final dividend in respect of the BEFEREREEAFEDIER
previous financial year, approved S ARSI BAREE 44U
and paid during the year, of (20234 : BRI BB 410)
4 HK cents per ordinary share
(20283: 4 HK cents per ordinary share) 20,053 20,053
Special dividend in respect of the BAEFERIREAEAFECHER
previous financial year, approved S AEREEREE 61U
and paid during the year, of (2023 % : GREBIRBEZL)
6 HK cents per ordinary share
(2023: nil HK cents per ordinary share) 30,079 -
50,132 20,053

(c)  Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 4(c).

(i) Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees of the Group and other eligible persons
recognised in the accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments.

() REZHEERBEHN
() ERRE

ER B ERKEE(BINER 2R E MRS MINE S
ZR o FERBHENSTBRME )RR -

(i) EBEXREE
BARERERESTRRRAUBRARSERK T ARE

BRMEMAEMALTZEBRMEF RITERERERENQ
REEER -

MNREXBRAF

- —ay ¥
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

24. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(c)  Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iii)  PRC statutory reserve

Pursuant to the laws and regulations governing the PRC
enterprises, certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries, which
are wholly foreign-owned enterprises, are required to allocate
at least 10% of their after-tax profit but before dividend
distribution to general reserve until the reserve has reached
50% of their registered capital. The general reserve can only
be used, upon approval by the relevant authority, to offset
accumulated losses or increase capital. Appropriation to
general reserve during the year amounted to approximately
HK$4,904,000 (2023: HK$2,723,000).

(iv)  Property Revaluation reserve

The property revaluation reserve has been set up and
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
adopted for transfer of leasehold land and buildings to
investment property in note 4(e) to the consolidated financial
statements.

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to shareholders of the Company
was HK$69,078,000 (2023: HK$70,476,000). After the
end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a final
dividend of 2 HK cents (2023: 4 HK cents) and a special
dividend of 6 HK cents (2023: 6 HK cents) per ordinary
share totaling HK$40,105,000 (2023: HK$50,132,000).
These dividends have not been recognised as liabilities at
the end of the reporting period.
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24. EBX -  REERRE @)

(c) RBEZHEERBENE)
(i) HEUEERE

KBRPRZEEMETHOEZER - AEBZHENE
RRIBINEBERE  BIE&RD10% D 2 RERFHEE
TEHEE EEZRBEIMEANS0% AL - TRHEE
AUEEHERHERREKHEREEBIIEMNER - AF
ENEE L MEEEEEN RSB 4,904,000 7T (2023 F :
FBE 2 703,000 7T) °

(iv) MEEMFHE

MEELFHBERBEGEMHREME 40 AEHEEL IR
BFERREMFERR 2 ST RRRILREE -

(d) WP ERE

MR2024F 12 A1 HRFH A DB TARRIRE 2 REESTE
& 75 %69,078,000 7T (2023 4F : 7 #70,476,0007T ) ° 1
MEHKRE  EZ2FTRSR LT BB ARHREBE 24
(2023 4F : B 4L) MR RS BIRB B 61U (2023
& BEel) - A B 40,105,000 7T (2023 4F : & #
50,132,00070) » RIREEIRELRERERSEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgements
to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines net debt
as total debt (which includes trade and other payables) plus
unaccrued proposed dividends. Adjusted capital comprises
all components of equity less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
strategy, which was unchanged from 2023, was to maintain
the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at reasonable level.
In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

24. EBX -  REERRE @)

(e) EXREE

FEBZEREBREERAANREBAEEZ BELEY
B UEERERERBRREHDR R AEMERA LR
R ES - DA m B R AR K A2 iR AR A A B
RAZ2ERER -

AEBETHLREHRTEEAEBUERT FER O HMAR
R RERZE2RHESEENINR - RELERER TEL
HERGEBERDBE 2 FIE -

HITREH B AEESUNFAEHEARERLXR
HEERHEEALE - sl AEEZRBRE(BRES N
Hib AR R B RSB ) TR 2R B R - &
ABREABEMAERDR TR ZZRERE

B 1E2024F 12 A31 B + AEE 2 KEUFE 2023 F — 1 -
RHEBEFAERFAERANGIEKT - AT HIFAR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

24. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued)

The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 31 December 2024

24. EBX -  REERRE @)

(e) EXETEE(E

R 2024 F K 2023 12 A 31 H 2 F & (F K AR AR H,

and 2023 was as follows: T -
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ST I
Current liabilities: mENEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAE IR 201,527 215,758
Add: Proposed dividends o EFRIRER S 40,105 50,132
Net debt BEFE 241,632 265,890
Total equity i 1‘¢¥ 675,762 673,541
Less: Proposed dividends o IR ERE (40,105) (50,132)
Adjusted capital RABER 635,657 623,409
Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio  F& &8 TR A K LBl 38% 43%

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for
the Group to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it
has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Company receives a report from the share registrars on
substantial share interests showing the non-public float and
it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit
throughout the year. As at 31 December 2024, 62% (2023:
62%) of the shares were in public hands.
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25. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024 not
provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as
follows:

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

25. TRiE

M2024%12 A 31 AR A M BRER B RBORNERA
T

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Contracted for: BEL
- Purchase of equipment and moulds - BEE R EHENMEEA 1,633 669

26. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(@) The Group as lessee

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
warehouses and carpark. As at 31 December 2024, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed in note 9.

(b) The Group as lessor

Operating leases relate to property, plant and equipment
owned by the Group. The lessee does not have an option to
purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

26. RRERERH
(@) AEBERFEEA
BT A B RS EISMEIL - 20246 12 A

31H - BHESHAEMIOTRENEHHEERANE
HIHEAS ML

(b) AEBEALBEA

REMERARERENYE BEIRKEER - AHEA
BRECHENERSBEEZYE -

HEMNREBKEENTELT

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT IT

Within year 1 —FR 1,335 =
In the second year RE_F 1,335 =
In the third year RE=F 334 =
3,004 -

FMEBEARAT —TIIFFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

26. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) The Group as lessor (Continued)

The following table presents the amounts reported in profit
or loss:

26. REHEZH(E)

(b) AEBEEZBHEA@E

TRIRET AR S

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Lease income on operating leases KEHENHEEWRA 928 2,003
27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 27. HEERER

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:  ANEEH)FEF HERSEN KRR - EERER - £H &

credit risk and concentration risk, liquidity risk, interest & © B&mEI MR - FIEK R B A1 HMNE [ B2 $;’% Ok

rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Credit risk and concentration risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
and cash balances and trade receivables. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount
of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Substantially all the Group’s bank and cash balances are
deposited in financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The credit risk is limited as the majority of counterparties
are financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit rating agencies or stated-controlled
financial institutions with good reputations.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer. The default
risks of the industry and country in which customers operate
also have an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has a certain

concentration of credit risk as 38% (2023: 33%); and 85%
(2023: 89%) of the trade receivables was due from the
largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@)  Credit risk and concentration risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, management has a credit
policy in place and the exposure to the credit risk is
monitored on an ongoing basis. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are due
within 30 to 120 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The directors of the Company have considered the credit
risk of trade receivables and note that there was no
actual loss nor significant past due experience over the
past 2 years, including periods of unfavourable economic
conditions. The directors consider the aggregate risks arising
from the possibility of credit loss on trade receivables are not
significant and no allowance for credit losses was made as
at 31 December 2024.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivable are set
out in note 18.

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BERREBL)
27. BIBERER(®)

@ FERRBREDRERE(E)

RESENELRTS  CEEARTHEEHE 185

BEZMARNEERR - BRAMAEERBREETEES
B2 EPUEETENEENE - LEFEHIEHHER
B 2 B RIRBNEREN XEBEEFH
ERIEF R P P & ERBENER - B RURKH
FHRBEEHEFS0E120BERNEH - AEE-RTER
P WEEH G o

AEENEREEFEANBREEBENSRIEERS
YRR BRERS - ARNAKENEREEBRERL
AEATAEFPEHNBARAFTEREEE  HILERSB
HRENBAERTEE—FPRONEEANTRET,E -

ARFEECEREHIRREFINEERR  BEBEM
FREVEEEBEIEABPREK  BEETFEER
SEARE - BEERA BHEKERWELBEEBEME
AREERIT AEAR - BR20249F12 31 B EELH(E
R -

FRARBEREZRUEFMEENEERRNE-TE
LBV HIFE18 -

(b) ELRBMUREE

AEEETZENEBERELEZERSERASE B
REPRSBHIREMIEMEFNENRSFR - XEER
ZBRA/EMERRE RIARZRBEFT R - AEREHE
FRARSHERANSHESR 7 ES - WEDEGH
REMRBIEFL -

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)
27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(b)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities which are based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group and the Company can be required to

pay:

Liquidity risk (Continued)

27. MBERBREE (g
(b) ELRBMERRE)

TRIMAEEZETEMLEHBERRERRZHRTE
IR - EEERAN LARBMRZRER (BRER
BHOEZHNE  MEFBHNEHERRERR  7FEZ
ME) RAREZERRER BHETE ¢

2024 2023
Total Total

contractual Within contractual Within

undiscounted 6 months undiscounted 6 months

cash flow oron cash flow oron

Carrying  #3HREH demand Carying  #:HRAH demand

amount  MRERE  6ERRAT amount  WDREREH JERIE

FEE ZHER  EREFH REE ZBRER  BRENE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BETT BETT BT BETT

Trade and other payables & 5 Rt ERTBRH 201,527 201,527 201,527 215,758 215,758 215,758
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FI=mE

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
and cash balances which were contracted at short-term
variable rates and expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in (i) below.

AEBZNXARTIERRERRNEFEEB ZHEREH
FBNEESBARBERSRAN AR - NEBZH
KR BHEREERILHI (T

(i) Interest rate risk (i) F) 22 [ B
2024 2023
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BREREFI= HK$’000 EEFIE HK$’000
% BT T % ST T
Fixed rate bank deposits  $R47/E SATF K EE FI% 3.49% 191,489 3.85% 244,251
Variable rate bank deposits  $R17F BITERUE B 6.85% 154,054 4.82% 119,934
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s profit after tax and retained earnings
by approximately HK$1,286,000 (2023: HK$1,001,000)
respectively. Other components of equity would not be
affected (2023: HK$NIl) by changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments
in existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase
or decrease represents management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual reporting date. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2023.

(d) Foreign currency risk
(i) Foreign currency transactions

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and expense transactions that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily US$ and GBP.

(i) Recognised assets and liabilities

In respect of trade receivables and payables held in
currencies other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate, the Group ensures that the
net exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to
address short-term imbalances.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

27. BIBERER(®)

(c) FIZmEE(E)
(i) SBESHF

R2024F 12 ABTBEFMBHMECAZEFTTIENIE
T R — AR RPN, R 10025 T - #§0 B8
/o mAARERZBRFEFE RS EFBLOD RIS
1,286,000 7T (20234 : B #1,001,0007T) - H#EF %
FREB) T EZE (2023 4F : BEZIT) °

A ERSRESTEREMNEEFENRERARELEMES
Al WEERRBRZBFTmEREBITERIETET BT
BZFZER - 100 T MR VIEEEBHEEZ T —
& E RS BREM 2 FIR e R B E B 2 7TH - DT
2023 FE[R 2 BAEHTT ©

(d) IMERBE
(i) HEXS
AEBEFEHNUZEREEXBNREB I BEBIIE

ZWAFZ B AAEINERR - BREEARZEE T

(i) CERIALEREE

ERUNEBHEEBUINZERBEZHEBE SR K
R AEESELBRNEHN T &R - URE
EXEAXELINE  BERFEESHEFE —(ETEIH
RE -
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ey

IR RM

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)
27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(d)
(i)

(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate.

27. BIBERER(®)

(d) ShERBE(E)

(iii)

TRINRAEER fE HIRE A R HER LAY

BRI AN — BRI B A AR B A TAE

M B R o

2024 2023
US$’000 GBP’000 US$’000 GBP’000
ESpH R ETT B
ST F&E T T4
Trade and other receivables B 5 & Z A EUAR K 20,575 1,546 23,890 1,270
Bank and cash balances ~ Re&RHEEZHEIEE 43,303 31 45,992 10
Trade and other payables & 5 & EAbfEBRFX (4,837) - (5,662) =
Net exposure arising from  FRTER 2 EER B BN
recognised assets and B
liabilities 59,041 1,577 64,220 1,280
(iv)  Sensitivity analysis (iv) BEBEDWN

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s profit after tax and retained earnings in response to

reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of

the reporting period.

TREEBASENBRENRIEMAREARBRZER S
R BB HBRRRER RRERMNER ZHOESD) -

2024 2023
Effect Effect
Increase/ on profit Increase/ on profit
(decrease) in  after tax and (decrease) in after tax and
foreign retained foreign retained
exchange earnings exchange earnings
rate HERBiR rate HERMz
R, BRRRE bEE =38 hn, i A R ARE
OR2) BRIzxE ORA) BNz &
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
GBP HeE 5% 638 5% 529
(5%) (638) (5%) (529)
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
(iv)  Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit after tax and retained earnings measured in
the respective functional currencies, translated into HK$ at
the exchange rate ruling as at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates occurred at the end
of the reporting period and applied to each of the Group
entities’ exposure to currency risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. In
this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between
the HK$ and the US$ would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the US$ against
other currencies. The percentage of increase and decrease
in foreign exchange rate represents the management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the period until the next annual
reporting date. The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2023.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

27. BIBERER(®)

(d) ShERBE(E)
(iv) BRBEDHFE)

ERAFITRZATEREBEEEB R AR B ZRBEE R
REMEEERREMRZER(M2HME ) LRRE
7-|:u-|— ZHXZ’XZ%%',{I’

FSZ@E DT HRRE RSN BEHRELE - YRANAE
BEEEHRNZADEFEZHFITESRTAMAR ZE
@%I_LBM MmABHEMAZERR(LEMKR)REAE - 5
b BRAETAET2HIERTK I EEXTHBEME

BIEPMIERTE - MEJI2EPREEEGAER
REE TN —EAFEREHRIELBE 2SR AIEEE) - #1T

T 2 W L 2023 F ATk iR 2 EREAR )

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 27. BI¥RREE %)

(Continued)
(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 (¢) BZEI12A31 HNERMT AR
December
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT TT
Financial assets: EREE
Financial assets measured SRR AGTENEREE
at amortised cost 559,993 596,721
Financial liabilities: S@as:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LA EN S RIARE 201,527 215,758
(f)  Fair values ) 2REE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and REEMFERAKXRF RN AEEHREERSHEEDN
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement  BREEEESBH A EEMRE °
of financial position appropriate their respective fair value.
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at
the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

28. NAREEE
NREBEATS2EENAEARETNEFRZTLE
BEMREKERRBEMTOER - L TAREERE
BRERNAABESAKARAERANEEMNMBERM
MEAED R=EEH :

E-SQBAE  AEMTNE A MEGOARRES
B ARERTS BE CREBE) -

F_FRBAE: F-FLMBROBE NI BEEXE
EMBEEXRBEIBEBAE-

F=FRBAE  BEXABNTAIBRBAE -

AEENBRINERZEENFHIRALREFHE R
RAZEFRFNEA—ESENEARES -

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 28. AREEE@®)
(@) Disclosure of level in fair value hierarchy at (a) 120245 12 831 BARBESRERKE

31 December 2024

Fair value measurements using: Total
DREESHERA &3t
Description Hut Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
F—ER ETER F=ER 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Recurring fair value KEMEAABEE
measurements:
Investment properties wEYE (MizE14)
(note 14)
Office and warehouse — MAEREE - BB
Hong Kong = = 32,800 32,800

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair (b)) REBEF=FHRRAALBEFAEZEEHER:

value based on level 3

2024
Investment
properties
Description e REYHE
HK$’000
BT T
At 1 January 2024 202441 A1 8 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EEAYE  BENEE 903
Revaluation gain recognised in other comprehensive R Efth4R & W s R HER A BN ES
income 32,797
Total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (#) RIBRER R HE BB #) (900)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12 A31 H 32,800
#) Include gains or losses for assets held at end of reporting  (#) B3ERMmEHRIFENEENWSSEIR
period (900)

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss including
those for assets held at the end of reporting period are

presented in other net income in the consolidated statement

of profit and loss.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2024
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at 31
December 2024:

The Group’s chief financial controller is responsible for the
fair value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The chief financial controller reports directly
to the Board of Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the financial controller and the Board of Directors
at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform
the valuations.

Level 3 fair value measurements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

28. AREEE@E

(0 R2024F 12831 BAKEFRRANGKER
FURAAEBEFEREANGERTRE
ABEBRE

AEENEFEMEEAERMBREBNETHENEE
REBEAREBEAE(BRE=ZSENRQAEENE) - &HF
M EERANESEREXZANEENE - ERVBE
HEESBFRLERFREREVETRA W °

RE=ZFRRABEFEMNS ARE-REZEAER
A EEER S RHERRIOIMNIAEZFET

B=ERDINEETE

Effect on
fair value for
increase of
Unobservable inputs
inputs A BIRIE M
Description Valuation technique FRA[#1%E Range HAAREEN Fair value
it B H AT A EiE EZ AREE
2024
HK$’000
BT T
Office and warehouse Income capitalisation ~ Market Yield 3.8% Decrease 32,800
located in Hong approach mislE =R Ve
Kong B E
UREBNRAER Monthly market  HK$5,769 — HK$7,264 Increase
BE rent per square foot per &l
mEAMEE month
75,769 7T -
87,264 7T,
FHHER,A

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABEMREN)

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(@) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group

represents amounts paid to the Company’s executive
directors as disclosed in note 10.

29. BEACERRZREE

) FEEEEAEMS

SEFXrZEEEAEMEEREINARATRMITESTNH T
1045 °

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Short-term employee benefits SEEL==EEv 12,264 11,729
Post-employment benefits BIERREA 702 702
12,966 12,431

(b)  Other related party transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
entered into an agreement with RJW Technology Company
Limited (“RJW Technology”) in acquiring one (2023:
two) units of machinery at a consideration of HK$950,000
(2023: HK$1,900,000), which were delivered to the Group's
premises.

RJW Technology is majority controlled by the executive

director and chairman of the Board, Dr. WONG, Man Hin
Raymond.

(c) Balances dealt with related parties

Balances with subsidiaries are disclosed in the Company’s
statement of financial position contained in note 32 (a).

30. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed
a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in note 24(b).

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2024

(b) HbEAEAIEE

BHZE2024F 12 A31 BIEFE - AARERIW Technology
([RJW Technology]) 5137 % + LA™ 950,000 7t (2023
F : #¥1,900,0007T) HREEE 15 (2023F : 28 ) #
& EXFEIRERmAME -

RJW Technology B TEEREF ST FEXEB LT E
PRl o
(c) BAEETLAERR

HEARXMBARZEHRBEEAR NP EAM K Z W
32(a) PHIFE -

30. ASREHIEREIE
LRI - BEEBERREIRS o SHERMEE24(0)
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31. SUBSIDIARIES’ INFORMATION

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless
otherwise stated.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

31. MEBARER
MEAEEC ¥F AERARZMBARFBEOT - B
BRIBIL - AT AR LR -

Particulars of Proportion
issued and paid up of ownership
Place of Place of capital interest held by
Name of company incorporation  operation BRTR the Company  Principal activities
AR LR aEfith B ik BRBRAZFE ApRENER FEEHR
Mass Top Corporation The British Hong Kong 1 share of US$1 100%  Property holding
Virgin Islands &5 1REBRERIET RENE
EERLS
Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical Appliances  The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100%  Manufacture and sale
Development Company Limited (Note) H H US$22,380,000 of electrical home
FIR (EBBY) ERLERERAR (M) AMER appliances
22,380,000 7T BERHERAESR
Note: BT

The statutory financial statements of Raymond (Panyu Nansha)
Electrical Appliances Development Company Limited for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024, prepared under generally
accepted accounting principles applicable in the PRC, have been
audited by BN EH &I EEAAR AR

Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical Appliances Development
Company Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise registered
under PRC Law.

MR (EEED) EREEERRAAEE024F12A31HIEZF
EVBRREFRETENRE  CEAEMNESSTMEHIE
RABIEZ -

MR (BBEY) BRERAR QR ERETEEZEEMAINGEE
% -

FREBEARAR —ZT_JUFEFR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

32. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE

COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position

32. AAQTEBBER

@) HBRRE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST I

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MEE 2,234 2,166
Investments in subsidiaries WEARIRE 173,703 173,703
175,937 175,869

Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 15,389 1,782
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E M IR 174,904 199,590
Loan to a subsidiary HB AR &R 75,243 -
Current tax assets BIHATR I & &= - 2,021
Bank and cash balances RITRIB ST 213,973 263,824
479,509 467,217
Current liabilities RBaE

Trade and other payables B 5 REAMEIRR 48,704 56,229
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEASTBT B A B BR X 67,206 48,218
Dividends payable FERTRR B, 366 339
Current tax liabilities BIEfFHIE B (& 2,268 =
118,544 104,786
Net current assets REBEEZE 360,965 362,431
Total assets less current liabilities #EERABHER 536,902 538,300

Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFIEAE 148 148
NET ASSETS BEEFE 536,754 538,152

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital [N 467,676 467,676
Reserves e 69,078 70,476
TOTAL EQUITY R 536,754 538,152

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and

are signed on its behalf by:

WONG, Man Hin Raymond
BEXHE

Director

EE
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WONG, Ying Man John
BREH
Director
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

32. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 32. ZAAQTBMBEFR (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Details of changes in the Company’s (b) TREFIRQFEHEREKBOEFEN
individual components of reserve during the BEIFE
year:
Share Capital Retained Total
capital reserve earnings equity
& N REEF SEtER
(note 24(a))  (note 24(c)(ii))
(BifaE24(a))  (FH#E24(c)ii)
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE BETT BB BT BT
At 1 January 2023 R2023%1 A1 B&& 467,676 - 33,510 501,186
Profit and total comprehensive REENEEEREAEE
income for the year - - 72,059 72,059
Dividends approved in respect of the: LS.
— current year - RF 24(p)() = = (15,040) (15,040)
— previous year -fAFF 24(p)i - - (20,053) (20,053)
- - 36,966 36,966
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F 12 A 31 B 467,676 - 70,476 538,152
At 1 January 2024 0202451 1 A& 467,676 - 70,476 538,152
Changes in equity for 2024: 2024 F iz
Profit and total comprehensive REHNREEREAEE
income for the year - - 68,787 68,787
Dividends approved in respect of the:  #LER S,
— current year 24(0)(i) - - (20,053) (20,053)
— previous year N2
—fE 24(o)(i - - (50,132) (50,132)
- - (1,398) (1,398)
At 31 December 2024 R2024 12 A 31 B 467,676 - 69,078 536,754
FMRBEERAR —ZT_INEFHR
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SEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

33. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a) Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL
for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3
assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2024

33. EE¥EREEMF

FERERNEE 4 T A R B R EORES  ERAFLHTR
ReWEABAYENHN SR QHBRIN) « WHRE
ERMAENETEEFLGTNBER  mELEaENE R
£ B T R 1 5 A SRR 3 R - 3 e (T P B R
AR S2 AT PO TR B AR S A R o A B g
LA EHETR o

B BNERNRRETHERS - WRETEFESS
fAET RIS RTHIR - RIEEAT AR R IR MR - IMREFTR
R EERIMARARE - AIFEERT R AR R PR R -

FE &t BUR R Y E E 3 R

EREBEFERRVEBRET  EFFHTUTHREMHR
RPERBNERBEREATENHE OF RAGFT e H BT R
S KT XD

() fFERREZEM

FHEEEENEHEEEHRREASN12EABREES
BRRETE  IFE _AE=—RREERESFRE2HRE
HEEBENBRETE E-REENEERRABRE
RARBEIRN - ZEECBBREF KR - BEMHR

%o G EAENEERRASEERLME  AEEE
EBAERARETRNEYREEABEEN -
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33. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the
Group’s deferred tax for investment properties, the directors
have adopted the presumption that investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered through
sale.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis or reducing balance
basis over the estimated useful lives. The Group reviews
annually the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any. The depreciation expense for future periods is adjusted
if there are significant changes from the previous estimation.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

33. EEHERFEMTT @)

RS RN EZHE (@)

(b) REVMRWELEHE

REAERAAEBERAFENREMENREFIANS
EFDEHNAKENRENFAS  UR/AKERE
MEYIFREAERERFREMIFEEBHEBRZFREY
EMBEENRAMORENSNARERASE - Bt - &
BEEAEEREMENECHER  EFCRIILANE
ERAAENREYEEEBHERD -

(RN PSES: VES-P Y

TXHwREBARNEIERRLBERREFT TRAMREE
MEMEFBERER  ZSBEREREFEEREERARD
FREEAR T —EAMRFEELENHENERRR

(@ wE

ME - BB MEREREREEENERRURBEERAIR
BENGEFAIERFHMNE - SESESFRINEZFEE
B RERE RN RSRER - 1F - REANFTERX SR
BT AFHBFOEARCMAR -
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(B AREN)

33. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

In considering the impairment loss that may be required for
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and investments in subsidiaries, the recoverable amount of
the asset needs to be determined. The recoverable amount
is the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and the
value in use. It is difficult to estimate precisely the fair value
price because quoted market prices for the assets may not
be readily available. In determining the value in use, expected
cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value, which requires significant judgement relating
to items such as level of revenue and amount of operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation
of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of
items such as revenue and operating costs.

(c) Impairment of trade receivables

The Group considers the ECLs of trade receivables are
based on management’s estimate of the lifetime ECL which
is taking into account the credit loss experience, ageing of
overdue trade receivables, customers’ repayment history
and customers’ financial position and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic conditions,
all of which involve a significant degree of management
judgement.

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and of forecast general economic conditions.
The information about the ECLs and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in notes 18 and 27(a). If the financial
condition of the customers or the forecast economic
conditions were to deteriorate, actual loss allowance would
be higher than estimated.
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33. EEHERFEMTT @)

At THBREN T ERR (@)

(b) % BERKERERAEEERE

ZRIETYE BELRE EAEEERNHEBERR
ZRERAIREEEREHRBERR  BETEEZA
WEEEHE AR eESFEEBREREEMEZIRS
o ANUEEEZ MM E TR ST B - B IAE
MG EE CECEREER  EEMELZAMNNE
EREDFREEHBRREE MARERBKFEREENX
AL BFRBFELHERNME - AREEETSERERMN
BAERBZEN MeBAKRESEZAEMOE
B ERREAEMEXHZIRRAEARBMEXER
LEXAFETEUR -

(0 EZEWRIRE

AEERBEZREEFINBREEBREREEEYHF
BRMEMEEBBENMGR  ZAAZTETEEBELR
BHE S RERRO KRR - B NERREME P M5
AR LA B B BT AN TR B AR B8 A O AT - PR BB LR A
REREEEHE -

RUFEMEEBERYRTZ(CMIAN LB ENNRE
B AARHEEBBERAKEE 5 BUARKH E B
FE18 % 27(a) KR © AIRE P BB AR sl TR MY AR B
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33. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(d) Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions and
interpretation of tax rules. The Group carefully evaluates
the tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are
set up accordingly. The tax treatment of transactions is
reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in
tax legislation.

(e) Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete
inventories

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts
of inventories with reference to aged inventories analyses,
projections of expected future saleability of goods and
management experience and judgement. Based on these
reviews, write-down of inventories will be made when the
carrying amounts of inventories fall below their estimated net
realisable value. Due to changes in customers’ performance,
actual sale of goods may be different from estimates
and profit or loss could be affected by differences from
estimates.

(f) Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair value of the investment properties. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has utilised a method
of valuation which involves certain estimates. The directors
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation and inputs used are reflective of the
current market conditions.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LBE®REMN)

33. EEHERFEMTT @)

At THBREN T ERR (@)
(d) FriS®

EMERERYREE TR REHARE 2 5FHE KR
BRAZERRE - ARBEREMFGRZIZBEHE - L&
SRR - ZFERH 2 HARIE T E Bimss - A
KL 2 FREEE) -

() WHRBREERME

AEBRITEHRTEGFERRKRDIT - BHRKBEE - &

B LA FEREE - ER LB CEERFESERER
ETHREREGFEAREEFEMEFERE - BEFP X
HNEE  BEREEBERLGEHTEEERBIIJEFE
i F SHES A ©

() REVENAIAEE

AEEER K- BBUEXGHEMHREVENQIAEE
TG - REEAAEBR - MEMRESRETHFN
BERE - EFETEREHE - WAREZGHERERA
BWABURRERREFIRTIR ©
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Five Years Financial Summary

IFEHERE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR #R&iEmK
LOSS
Year ended 31 December
HIE12B31HIEEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT IT T IT BT T BT T BT T
Revenue A 1,289,515 1,433,612 1,063,058 1,362,732 | 1,075,732
Profit before taxation BRI & 76,879 47272 34,336 78,498 54,143
Income tax expense i8R i (13,661) (5,312) (3,832) (10,627) (8,924)
Profit for the year AATRREEARFEE
attributable to gl
shareholders of the
Company 63,218 41,960 30,504 67,871 45,219
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL #H& Bk &
POSITION
As at 31 December
12A31B&E
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ST IT BT T BT T PRI BT T
Property, plant and Y - B RS
equipment 153,021 155,983 132,498 119,077 125,732
Investment properties REMZE - - - - 32,800
Right-of-use assets FREEE 8,833 8,509 7,552 6,990 5,553
Deferred tax assets REBIBEE 2,739 3,000 2,865 3,028 2,529
Net current assets MEVEEFE 490,789 503,501 503,110 544,603 509,303
Deferred tax liabilities FEXERIBEE (167) (163) (159) (157) (155)
Net assets BEFE 655,215 670,830 645,866 673,541 675,762
Share capital N 462,333 467,578 467,676 467,676 467,676
Reserves 1 192,882 203,252 178,190 205,865 208,086
Total equity B 655,215 670,830 645,366 673,541 675,762
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